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By working together, we connect past and future generations through understanding and 
recognition, conservation and activation of the places that define the Western Australian story
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This annual report covers the operations of 
the Heritage Council of Western Australia. The 
report also presents a series of audited financial 
statements and performance indicators for the 
year ended 30 June 2018.

STATEMENT  
OF COMPLIANCE

To the 
Honourable David Templeman MLA
Minister for Local Government; Heritage; 
Culture and the Arts

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial 
Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to Parliament, 
the Annual Report for the Heritage Council of 
Western Australia for the financial year ended 30 
June 2018.

The Annual Report has been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006.

Anne Arnold
Chair
Heritage Council of Western Australia
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Disclaimer

This document has been produced by the Department 
of Planning, Lands and Heritage on behalf of 
the Heritage Council of Western Australia. Any 
representation, statement, opinion or advice expressed 
or implied in this publication is made in good faith 
and on the basis that the Government, its employees 
and agents are not liable for any damage or loss 
whatsoever which may occur as a result of action taken 
or not taken, as the case may be, in respect of any 
representation, statement, opinion or advice referred 
to herein. Professional advice should be obtained 
before applying the information contained in this 
document to particular circumstances.

The Heritage Coucil of Western Australia acknowledges the traditional owners and custodians of this 
land. We pay our respect to Elders past and present, their descendants who are with us today, and 
those who will follow in their footsteps.

email: info@dplh.wa.gov.au

tel: 08 6551 8002 
fax: 08 6551 9001
National Relay Service: 13 36 77

The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage 
owns all photography in this document unless 
otherwise stated. 

This document is available in alternative formats  
on application to the Department of Planning, Lands 
and Heritage Communications Branch.

click to return

Contents   I   Message from the Chair   I   Operational Highlights   I  Operational Performance  I  Disclosures



Contents   I   Message from the Chair   I   Operational Highlights   I  Operational Performance  I  Disclosures

4

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
HERITAGE COUNCIL OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

On behalf of the Heritage Council of Western 
Australia (Heritage Council) I am pleased to 
present the 2017-18 Annual Report. This report 
highlights the achievements and activities of 
the Heritage Council over the past year and our 
future priorities as we work to fulfil our statutory 
responsibilities and corporate objectives. 

A 2016 Western Australian Heritage Award 
winning project, the Brookman and Moir Streets 
Precinct, won a prestigious UNESCO Asia-Pacific 
conservation award - the only Australian project 
to be honoured in 2017.  It is the sixth Western 
Australian heritage project in six years to be 
honoured by UNESCO since a relationship was 
forged with the Heritage Council to endorse 
WA Heritage Award-winning projects to these 
important international awards. 

The 26th Western Australian Heritage Awards 
were held in March. The finalists for the 2018 
awards shone a spotlight on the exciting 
heritage work being undertaken in regional 
Western Australia, with 16 of the 25 finalists from 
regional areas.  

 

MESSAGE FROM 
THE CHAIR
Anne Arnold 
Chair 
Heritage Council of Western Australia

Following the interim registration of Fremantle’s 
West End in 2016-17, it became clear that being 
State registered has not imposed a greater level 
of bureaucracy on development proposals.  
This is thanks to the close working relationship 
between the Heritage Council and the City of 
Fremantle to streamline approval processes, 
with a focus on ensuring development is 
sensitive to the heritage values of the precinct. 
Following a period of public comment regarding 
the permanent registration from owners, 
stakeholders and the wider community, the 
Minister for Heritage approved the permanent 
listing of this precinct in July 2017.  State 
heritage listing will enhance the precinct’s 
appeal as a tourism destination, where visitors 
can immerse themselves in the sights and 
experiences of this historic area and contribute 
to its revitalisation. 

Over the past 12 months the Heritage Council 
continued to deliver its engagement program. 
This included the very successful Regional 
Heritage Conference “Sacred Heritage” held in 
Geraldton, as well as a trip to Cossack to discuss 
the future direction for the historic settlement.  
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The Heritage Council provided support to the 
Western Australian Museum to protect the 
Alex T Brown, a shipwreck situated near Two 
Rocks. Experts from the WA Museum say that 
the wreck is rare, being one of only two four-
masted schooners wrecked in Australia. The 
Museum sought the Council’s support for a 
Conservation Order to protect the shipwreck 
by activating the significant penalties available 
under the Heritage Act for deliberate damage.  
The Minister for Heritage agreed to issue the 
Conservation Order in June 2018.

The Heritage Council continues to support 
private owners of State Registered places 
through our grants program. The 2017-
18 funding round resulted in 23 successful 
applications sharing $1.222 million in grant 
funding from a very competitive field of 
applicants. We also provided additional 
funds to the City of Karratha to assist with the 
conservation costs for the Cossack townsite. 

This year the Heritage Bill 2017 progressed 
through the Legislative Assembly and was 
introduced into the Legislative Council. As 
we move into a phase of legislative and 
planning reform, we will work together with the 
Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage 
(the Department) and other State agencies and 
local governments to ensure cultural heritage 
is front-of-mind in policy and regulatory review 
and State Government infrastructure programs.

Our Strategic Plan 2016-2020 was reviewed this 
year and was updated to capture emerging 
priorities in the areas of recognition, protection 
and promotion of Western Australia’s cultural 
heritage places. Over the next period we will 
continue to promote the engagement with 

WA’s cultural heritage, support heritage tourism 
opportunities and build capacity in the heritage 
sector. The Heritage Council looks forward to 
continue working with the Department to deliver 
our priorities. 

I would like to thank my colleagues on the 
Heritage Council and the members of the 
Development and Register Committees for 
their support. In particular, I would like to thank 
Alice Steedman who left the Heritage Council 
last year to take up a new position in New 
South Wales, and wish her all the best in her 
future endeavours. I would also like to welcome 
incoming councillor Jennifer Marschner, an 
experienced architect who has been involved 
in a number of adaptive re-use projects for 
heritage places. 

The Heritage Council also acknowledges the 
advice and support provided by the Heritage 
Services division of the Department and looks 
forward to working with them in 2018-19 to 
implement our Strategic Plan.
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Heritage is important in understanding the 
story of Western Australia – its history, identity 
and diversity. It can comprise places such as 
buildings and structures, monuments, gardens, 
cemeteries, landscapes and archaeological sites. 
As a community, we share the responsibility to 
identify and protect what is important, and pass 
these places on to future generations so they 
will understand what came before them. 

The Heritage Council works with Western 
Australians to recognise, conserve, adapt and 
celebrate our State’s unique cultural heritage. 

Our work includes:

• Advising State Government and its agencies 
on heritage-related issues.

• Assessing and recommending places for 
inclusion in the State Register of Heritage 
Places – a statutory list of places that 
represent the history and development of 
Western Australia.

• Managing change and adaptation of 
places to ensure that their heritage 
significance is maintained while encouraging 
contemporary use. 

• Revitalising vacant and under-utilised 
State or local government owned heritage 
properties through the Heritage Revolving 
Fund.

• Promoting best-practice conservation and 
enhancing the community’s understanding 
and appreciation of heritage places. 

The 2017-18 Annual Report provides an 
overview of the work and operations of the 
Heritage Council. Because we strive for 
professionalism and excellence, we welcome 
your feedback on this report, which can be 
provided by email or in writing. Please see  
page 3 for our contact details.

OVERVIEW
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State Register of Heritage Places

• 8 places were entered in the State Register 
of Heritage Places on an interim basis.

• 5 places were entered in the State Register 
of Heritage Places on a permanent basis.

• 1,368 places now entered in the State 
Register of Heritage Places.

Development of Heritage Places 

• 963 development referrals were determined 
during the year.

• 92% of development referrals processed 
within 30 days.

Assistance for Property Owners 

• 23 projects shared in approximately $1.222 
million of grant funding, contributing to 
more than $3.09 million in conservation 
works to State Registered places across 
Western Australia. 

Revitalising Vacant Heritage Places

• The sale of the Coogee Hotel finalised in 
December 2017.

• Feasibility analysis carried out on four 
heritage places, which will potentially lead 
to conservation works during 2018-19.

Strategic Projects

• The Heritage Bill 2017 passed the Legislative 
Assembly and was introduced into the 
Legislative Council in June 2018.

Education and Training

• Presentation of a two-day Regional Heritage 
Conference in Geraldton with a theme 
of ‘Sacred Heritage’, which successfully 
engaged with its target audience and 
promoted informed discussion on diverse 
and interesting subject matter.

Promotion 

• 2018 Western Australian Heritage Awards 
saw 19 individuals and heritage projects 
recognised for heritage excellence.

• Twitter followers up by 29 per cent to 983 (@
StateHeritage).

• Heritage Matters eNewsletter subscribers up 
by 4% to 1,104 subscribers.

• Western Australian Heritage Award winning 
project, Brookman and Moir Streets Precinct, 
received the Award of Distinction at the 2017 
UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural 
Heritage Conservation.

YEAR AT A GLANCE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Financial Targets
2017/18 
Target(a)

$000

2017/18 
Actual
$000

Variation(b)

$000

Total Cost of services (expense limit) 1,421 1,469 48

Net Cost of Services (479) 513 992

Total Equity 6,399 5,406 (993)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 3,200 1,266 (1,934)

Approved salary expense level - - -

Agreed borrowing limit - - -

Working Cash Targets
2017/18 

Agreed limit
$000

2018 Target/
Actual
$000

Variation
$’000

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Budget) 71 71 -

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Actuals) 71 69 (2)

Agency Performance Compared to Targets

Notes
(a) The targets specified above are as per the 2017/18 Budget Statements.
(b) Further explanations are contained in Note 8.10 ‘Explanatory Statement’ to the   

financial statements.
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Outcome Based Management Framework

The Heritage Council recognises that heritage 
is integral to the vibrant life and prosperity 
of Western Australia.  As such, the Council’s 
mission is to work with Western Australians to 
recognise, conserve, adapt and celebrate our 
State’s unique cultural heritage.  In this way the 
Council contributes to the Government’s goals 
outlined below.

HERITAGE COUNCIL’S 
PERFORMANCE

Effectiveness Indicators
1. Extent to which heritage places identified as having 

potential State significance have been assessed 

2. Extent to which development approvals issued for 
registered places are consistent with the Council’s advice 
to decision-making authorities 

3. Extent to which grant aid leverages additional investment 
in conservation projects

Efficiency Indicator
1. Incidence of preliminary reviews proceeding to full-

assessment but resulting in decisions not to recommend 
interim registration

Service 1
Cultural Heritage Conservation Services

Desired Outcome
Conservation of cultural heritage places in Western 
Australia, for the benefit of present and future 
generations

Government Goal

Better Places

A quality environment with liveable and affordable 
communities and vibrant regions 
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Key Effectiveness Indicators(a) 2017/18 
Target(b)

2017/18 
Actual Variation(c)

Extent to which heritage places identified as having 
potential State significance have been assessed

76% 77.5% 1.5%

Extent to which development approvals issued for 
registered places are consistent with the Council’s 
advice to decision-making authorities

100% 100% 0%

Extent to which grant aid leverages additional 
investment in conservation projects

2:1 2.5:1 0.5:1

Summary of key performance 
indicators against targets

Desired Outcome: Conservation of cultural 
heritage places in Western Australia for the 
benefit of present and future generations

Key Effectiveness Indicators(a) 2017/18 
Target(b)

2017/18 
Actual Variation(c)

Incidence of preliminary reviews proceeding to 
full assessment but resulting in decisions not to 
recommend interim registration. 

6.5% 7.2% 0.7%

Notes

(a) The tables above provide a summary of the Heritage Council’s Key Performance Indicators for 2017-18.
 For more detailed information, including explanations for significant variances, refer to the Key 

Performance Indicators section of this report at pages 89 - 91.

(b) The targets specified above are as per the 2017-18 Budget Statements.

(c) Variations shown in brackets represent a decrease in the actual result compared to the target. Depending 
on the KPI, a decrease in the actual result does not necessarily mean that the target has not been 
achieved.

Service 1: Cultural heritage conservation services
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ABOUT THE HERITAGE COUNCIL

The Heritage Council is the State Government’s 
advisory and statutory body on heritage, 
established under section 5 of the Heritage 
of Western Australia Act 1990. It is listed as 
a statutory authority on Schedule 1 of the 
Financial Management Act of 2006 and is 
subject to the provisions of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994.

The Heritage Council is vested with functions 
and powers under the Heritage of Western 
Australia Act 1990. Its primary roles are to:

• Recommend places to the Minister for 
Heritage for entry in the State Register

• Review and provide advice on major 
development of heritage places to 
ensure the cultural heritage significance is 
maintained while allowing for contemporary 
use and adaptation

• Promote the conservation of Western 
Australia’s heritage

• Set strategic direction for the Department.

The Heritage Council is assisted in its work 
by the Department and its two committees 
(Development Committee and Register 
Committee) comprising Heritage Councillors 
and experienced heritage professionals.

The Heritage Council and the Department 
work together, under the Heritage of Western 
Australia Act 1990 and shared corporate 
strategy, to recognise, conserve, adapt and 
celebrate our State’s unique cultural heritage.

Our Vision

Heritage is integral to the identity, vibrant life 
and prosperity of Western Australia.

Our Mission and Values

Working with Western Australians to recognise, 
conserve, adapt and celebrate our State’s 
unique cultural heritage. Our values are:

Professionalism 

We are proficient, competent and reliable in 
all that we do. We value excellence and act 
with respect and integrity at all times.

Accountability
We practice fair and ethical decision-
making. We explain things openly and take 
responsibility for our decisions and actions.

Collaboration
We work together, and with our stakeholders, 
to promote good heritage outcomes.
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Helpfulness
We always seek to be helpful. We provide 
valued and timely service, respecting that our 
customers have individual needs.

Respect
We are serious about what we do, and 
understand our work is personal to our 
stakeholders. We support each other and 
celebrate our successes. 

Responsible Minister

Hon David Templeman MLA - Minister for Local 
Government; Heritage; Culture and the Arts

Enabling Legislation

Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990

Legislation Administered

Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990

Other Key Compliance Legislation 

Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972; 

Maritime Archaeology Act 1973; 

Planning and Development Act 2005; 

Building Act 2011; 

Auditor General Act 2006; 

Disability Services Act 1993; 

Equal Opportunity Act 1984; 

Financial Management Act 2006; 

Freedom of Information Act 1992; 

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984; 

Public Sector Management Act 1994; 

State Records Act 2000; 

State Supply Commission Act 1991; 

Registration of Deeds Act 1856; 

Transfer of Land Act 1893; 

Superannuation and Family Benefits Act 1938; 

Petroleum and Geothermal Energy Resources 
Act 1967; 

Property Law Act 1969;

Public Works Act 1902;

Mining Act 1978; 

Valuation of Land Act 1978; 

Interpretation Act 1984; 

Strata Titles Act 1985; 

Land Administration Act 1997.

Delegations

Section 22 of the Heritage of Western Australia 
Act 1990 empowers the Heritage Council to 
delegate to any person any of the Heritage 
Council’s powers, functions and duties arising 
under the Act, other than the power to 
delegate, and empowers the Chairperson to 
delegate any of the Chairperson’s powers, 
functions and duties to any other person.

The majority of the Heritage Council’s day-
to-day statutory functions are undertaken by 
the Department under a delegated authority. 
The Heritage Council adopts a best practice 
approach to the delegation of authority. As 
such, instruments of delegation are routinely 
examined to ensure they remain accurate and 
appropriate. In 2017-18, the delegations were 
revised and updated.
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Shared Responsibility with  
Other Agencies

The Heritage Council has no shared 
responsibilities with other agencies, other than 
the Department of Planning.

Minister for Heritage

Hon David Templeman MLA

Development Committee

Provides advice for large-scale of 
complex projects, except when a 
project is particularly sensitive in 
which case it is dealt with by the 
Heritage Council.

Department of Planning, 
Lands and Heritage

Director General
Gail McGowan

Heritage Services

Assistant Director General 
Graeme GammieRegister Committee

Determines priority of assessment 
for all places nominated to the 
State Register; reviews assessment 
documentation of places under 
consideration; and makes 
recommendations to the Minster 
for Heritage of places deemed to 
have State level cultural heritage 
significance.

Heritage Council of 
Western Australia

Chair
Anne Arnold

Organisational Chart of the  
Heritage Council
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HERITAGE COUNCIL MEMBERS

The Heritage Council comprises nine 
members appointed by the Governor of WA 
on the recommendation of the Minister for 
Heritage. Membership includes a chairperson, 
a representative each from the heritage 
professions, local government, owners’ interest 
groups, a nominee of the National Trust of 
Australia (WA) and four other members. The 
members are:

Mrs Anne Arnold (Chair), Mr Philip Griffiths, 
Professor John Stephens, Dr Brad Pettitt, 
Ms Sally Malone, Mr Lloyd Clark, Ms Nerida 
Moredoundt, Ms Alice Steedman (resigned in 
December 2017), Ms Jennifer Marschner and Mr 
Robert Druitt. 

Anne Arnold – Chair  
(appointed 2008 and Chair since February 2016); 
Chair of the Development Committee

Anne is a former Chief Executive of the Real 
Estate Institute of Western Australia. She has 
been involved in property, planning, real estate 
and housing throughout her career. She is also 
currently director and Deputy Chair of the WA 
Land Information Authority (Landgate). 

She has had an interest in heritage and its 
impact on property owners throughout her 
career. In her role as Chair she is an advocate 
for adaptive reuse of heritage buildings 
and working with owners to enhance their 
developments by retaining heritage buildings 
and fabric. 

Anne continues the work of her predecessor in 
focusing the Council on good governance and 
transparent and accountable processes, and on 
working jointly with the staff of the Department 
to achieve great outcomes for heritage in WA.   
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Mr Philip Griffiths – Chair of the 
Register Committee and Professionals 
Representative (appointed 1992) 

Award-winning architect Philip Griffiths is 
Director of Griffiths Architects and Immediate 
Past President of the Australian Institute of 
Architects (AIA), Western Australia, and a 
member AIA’s National Council and Executive. 
Philip is also a member of Australia International 
Council on Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS) and 
DOCOMOMO Australia.

One of WA’s most experienced and respected 
architects, Philip has been involved with some 
of WA’s most iconic historic buildings including 
Fremantle Prison, Episcopal Palace, Premier’s 
Office and Cabinet Room, WA Ballet Centre, 
Government House, Central Government 
Buildings, and Parliament House. Prior to this, 
he was based in the United Kingdom where 
he worked on various heritage properties in 
London, Hereford, Canterbury, Bristol and 
Bolton.

Philip provides valuable knowledge and 
expertise on the preparation of heritage 
assessments, conservation plans and 
conservation and adaption of heritage places, 
and enjoys passing on the passion and 
knowledge of heritage to emerging architects 
and those who own, or are thinking of acquiring, 
heritage places.

Professor John Stephens – National 
Trust of Australia (WA) nominee 
(appointed 2011) 

John is an Emeritus Professor at Curtin 
University and teaches and researches in 
the School of Built Environment. His area of 
expertise and study includes architectural 
history, cultural heritage, community, identity, 
memory and commemoration. 

He has an interest in community projects, war 
memory and memorials, and has published 
academic papers and books relating to 
the meanings of heritage places and 
memorialisation. John has been involved in 
many conservation plans and heritage reports 
and supervises postgraduate students studying 
heritage topics. 

John is a member of the Australia Asia Pacific 
Institute at Curtin University and an active 
volunteer in State heritage matters. He is a 
councillor of the National Trust and member of 
ICOMOS. 

John’s current projects include working with 
the Bringing Them Home Foundation and 
Aboriginal people to regenerate former Native 
Mission sites as healing places for Stolen 
Generation people. He is also working with 
other academics and students on restoring a 
Portuguese era school at Liquica in Timor Leste 
for community use.
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Dr Brad Pettitt – Local Government 
Representative (appointed 2014)

After four years as a City of Fremantle councillor, 
Dr Brad Pettitt was elected Mayor in 2009 and 
re-elected for another term in 2013.

In his time as a councillor, and now as the Mayor 
of Fremantle, Brad has been a member of, and 
chaired, a broad range of working groups and 
committees including the Urban Development 
Advisory Committee, Transport Committee, 
Climate Change Adaptation working group and 
the City Centre Strategic Sites working group.

With Fremantle having arguably the highest 
concentration of heritage places of any local 
government in Western Australia, Brad has 
a unique insight into the challenges and 
opportunities associated with the ownership 
and development of our State’s historic places. 
Brad has given papers and published papers on 
sustainability and built heritage, and heritage 
and buffer zones.

Until taking up the role of Mayor, Brad was the 
Dean of the School of Sustainability at Murdoch 
University.  His research and teaching expertise 
include climate change, international aid policy, 
and sustainability planning. Brad continues to 
be involved at Murdoch as an adjunct associate-
professor. 

Brad has previously worked with Oxfam in 
Cambodia and with the Australian Government 
Aid Program, AusAID, in Canberra.

Ms Sally Malone – Community 
Representative (appointed 2017)

Sally is an urban and landscape designer with 
over 20 years’ experience working across both 
private and local government sectors. She 
has worked in roles as diverse as managing 
construction of large-scale urban public places 
to implementing designs for small regional 
shires and private residences.

Sally’s design practice is based in Albany, and 
she has a particular interest in the issues that 
rural, regional and remote communities face 
in conserving, adapting, interpreting and 
celebrating their heritage and culture. 

Sally brings experience to the Heritage Council 
in: heritage sites, their settings and context; 
landscapes and gardens; the role of tourism 
in heritage and culture; urban design and 
development guidelines for heritage places; and 
the broader contexts of townscapes and street 
frontages.

Having served on a number of national, state 
and community based boards, Sally has a strong 
background in stewardship and an insight into 
managing change and development across a 
number of sectors.
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Mr Lloyd Clark – Community 
Representative (appointed 2010)

Lloyd is the founder and Managing Director of 
M/Group, an established integrated property 
group focussed on investment, development, 
construction and real estate services. 

M/Group’s development division, Match, has 
undertaken a number of heritage sensitive 
redevelopments including the WD & HO 
Wills Building known as “Home” warehouse 
apartments, which won the 2009 National 
Property Council of Australia Award for adaptive 
reuse, and the recently completed Dalgety 
Wool Stores building in Fremantle. Completed 
in early 2017, this redevelopment saw the 
famous landmark building converted into 183 
‘warehouse’ residential apartments which was 
named the 2017 Heritage Council of WA winner 
for conservation and adaptive reuse of a State 
Registered place.

In 2009 and again in 2017, Match won the 
Western Australian ‘Gerry Gauntlett’ Heritage 
Award for excellence in adaptive reuse.

Lloyd’s strong business acumen, property 
development expertise and practical ‘hands 
on’ experience with large scale adaptive reuse 
and heritage renewal projects stands him in 
good stead as Councillor and member of the 
Development Committee.

Ms Nerida Moredoundt – Community 
Representative (appointed 2010)

Nerida has built an enviable reputation for 
delivering iconic and innovative solutions for 
some of the State’s most valued heritage places. 
She is the Principal Architect at element and 
has an impressive track record for her work on 
complex urban revitalisations and adaptive reuse 
projects. She brings a depth of experience in the 
heritage field to the important advisory role that 
the Heritage Council plays in the identification 
and management of heritage places in the State. 

Nerida is a trusted advisor across the full statutory 
heritage spectrum, with particular expertise in 
heritage assessments and analysing development 
proposals. She works to balance property 
owner, developer, government and community 
expectations and has a keen interest in 
facilitating outcomes that support the long-term 
sustainability and viability of heritage properties. 

Nerida has pioneered the application of 
the World Heritage Convention’s Cultural 
Landscapes framework to Rottnest Island/
Wadjemup and played an instrumental role in 
securing World Heritage Listing for Western 
Australia’s Fremantle Prison as an integral 
part of the Australian Convict Sites. She takes 
inspiration from her travels to diverse places, 
such as Norway and Japan, where people highly 
value and adapt to their heritage setting, and 
sees the collaboration between artists, story 
tellers and heritage specialists as vital to place 
interpretation and celebration. 
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Ms Alice Steedman – Community 
Representative (2014 - 2017)

Alice is an architect with 22 years’ experience 
in heritage and conservation management in 
Western Australia. She has operated her own 
practice since 1997, providing advice directly 
to clients or as a sub-consultant to other 
professional practices. 

Alice has worked in all areas of project delivery 
from the development of functional briefs, 
grant applications and site supervision with the 
aim of achieving practical, timely and quality 
outcomes in heritage places. She completed a 
qualification in Access Consulting to more fully 
understand and integrate changes in heritage 
places to meet disability access requirements 
and she is currently completing a Masters of 
Business Administration.

Alice has worked on numerous WA Heritage 
Award winning projects including the 
conservation of the Kalgoorlie Miner Building, 
the 140William redevelopment, and the 
adaptation of the Clontarf handball courts into a 
training facility for Marr Mooditj. 

A finalist in the 2014 Heritage Awards for 
professional contribution to the heritage 
industry, Alice has been a member of the 
jury for the Australian Institute of Architects 
Heritage Awards and is an active member of the 
Institute’s Heritage Committee.

Ms Jennifer Marschner – Member 
(appointed January 2018)

Jennifer is an architect with over 20 years’ 
experience. She has a passion for the layers 
and complexities of the built environment 
and has been involved in the adaptive reuse 
of some of WA’s most recognisable State 
Registered places including the ‘The Maltings’ 
residential development in Palmerston Street, 
the adaptation of the former Government 
Printer’s Office into the Curtin Graduate School 
of Business, and the conversion of the former 
Elders Woolstores in Fremantle.

Prior to going into sole practice, Jennifer was an 
associate director and then design consultant 
at DesignInc, a tutor in design at the University 
of Western Australia’s Faculty of Architecture 
and Fine Arts and worked as an architect at 
The Buchan Group and with Gerald McCann 
Architect.

Jennifer has a particular interest in the process 
of identifying those places which are considered 
to have cultural significance to our State and 
ensuring their significance is retained within 
their fabric as a tangible record of Western 
Australia’s history.
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Mr Robert Druitt - Owners’ Interests 
Representative (appointed June 2016) 

Rob is the Heritage Council member 
representing owners’ interests. He brings more 
than 29 years’ experience in the residential and 
commercial real estate industry from his time 
on both the Real Estate Institute’s National and 
State boards, including their finance and risk 
management sub-committees, and as the Real 
Estate Institute of WA President from 2006 to 
2009.

Rob’s outstanding contribution to the real estate 
industry has been recognised through the highly 
prestigious REIA President’s Award and REIWA’s 
Kevin Sullivan Award.

Currently chair of the Salvation Army Advisory 
Board WA, Rob is also a board member and the 
treasurer of the Special Air Services Resources 
Trust Board and is actively involved in SAS 
fundraising activities. He also volunteers his time 
and auctioneering skills to various charity groups 
such as the MS Society, Radio Lollipop, and the 
Westpac Foundation.

Name Attendance

Mrs Anne Arnold 11

Mr Lloyd Clark 10

Mr Philip Griffiths 10

Ms Sally Malone 9

Prof John Stephens 10

Ms Nerida Moredoundt 9

Dr Brad Pettitt 9

Ms Jennifer Marschner * 5

Ms Alice Steedman ** 5

Mr Robert Druitt 11

* Ms Alice Steedman’s term expired in December 2017 
and she did not seek re-appointment.

** Ms Jennifer Marschner was appointed in January.

Attendance at Heritage Council Meetings: 
Eleven Heritage Council meetings held: 
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HERITAGE COUNCIL COMMITTEES

Register Committee
The Register Committee determines the 
priority of assessment for all places nominated 
to the State Register; reviews assessment 
documentation of places under consideration; 
and makes recommendations to the Minister 
for Heritage regarding places deemed to have 
State-level cultural heritage significance. 

Members: Mr Philip Griffiths (Chair), Professor 
John Stephens, Ms Nerida Moredoundt, Dr Brad 
Pettitt. 

Other members: Dr Fiona Bush (historian and 
archaeologist), Mr Peter Woodward (heritage 
practitioner and landscape architect) and Mrs 
Lucy Hair (historian). 

Name Attendance

Mr Philip Griffiths 11

Prof John Stephens 8

Ms Nerida Moredoundt 4

Dr Brad Pettitt 11

Dr Fiona Bush 9

Mr Peter Woodward 7

Mrs Lucy Hair 10

Attendance at Register Committee Meetings: 
Eleven Register Committee meetings held: 

Development Committee
Proposed major changes to places listed 
in the State Register require formal 
consideration and advice by the Heritage 
Council. The Development Committee 
provides this advice for large-scale or 
complex projects, except when a project is 
particularly sensitive in which case it is dealt 
with by the Heritage Council.

Members: Mrs Anne Arnold (Chair), Ms Sally 
Malone, Mr Lloyd Clark, Ms Alice Steedman 
(resigned in December 2017), Ms Jennifer 
Marschner, Mr Robert Druitt.

Other members: Mr Ian Maitland (heritage 
engineer), Mr Chris Antill (urban planner and 
designer).

Attendance at Development Committee 
Meetings: Eleven Development Committee 
meetings held: 

Name Attendance

Mrs Anne Arnold 10

Mr Lloyd Clark 10

Ms Sally Malone 6

Ms Alice Steedman * 6

Mr Robert Druitt 8

Mr Chris Antill 11

Mr Ian Maitland 9

Ms Jennifer Marschner ** 4

* Ms Alice Steedman’s term expired in December 2017 
and she did not seek re-appointment.

** Ms Jennifer Marschner was appointed in January.
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STRATEGIC PLANNING

The Heritage Council and Department work 
together to ensure economic activity involving 
state registered heritage places is managed 
in a socially and environmentally responsible 
manner for the long-term benefit of the State, 
and achieve the desired outcomes of both 
agencies. During the year, the Heritage Council 
reviewed its Strategic Plan 2016-2020 to capture 
emerging priorities in the areas of recognition, 
protection and promotion of Western Australia’s 
cultural heritage places, which align with the 
Government’s overall goals and objectives. 
The Strategic Plan 2018-2022 is available at 
stateheritage.wa.gov.au.

Cultural and heritage services are delivered 
through a focus on three objectives, each 
supported by ongoing activities and strategic 
projects. The objectives are:

• The places that represent the story of 
Western Australia’s history and development 
are comprehensively identified and 
chronicled.

• Western Australia’s heritage places are 
conserved through sound heritage practice 
and harmonious development, and their full 
potential is realised.

• The importance of heritage places to 
Western Australia’s identity and quality of 
life is understood and appreciated.

Outcomes and supporting activities and 
projects are developed collaboratively between 
the Heritage Council and the Department, and 
are detailed in the Heritage Council’s Strategic 
Plan 2018-2022. The Department is responsible 
for delivering these activities and projects, 
and reports to the Heritage Council on their 
progress.

Objective 1: The places that represent the story 
of Western Australia’s history and development 
are comprehensively identified and chronicled. 
Strategies to achieve this outcome include:

• Work towards making the State Register of 
Heritage Places a comprehensive collection 
of places that are recognised for their 
cultural heritage significance to the people 
of Western Australia.

• Develop and maintain well-understood 
listing criteria for entry of places in the 
Register that are open, transparent and 
inspire public confidence.

• Promote consistency and high standards in 
heritage identification and listing practices.

Initiatives to achieve this outcome are:

• Implement the thematic history of Western 
Australia framework.

• Long-term interim registered properties 
progressed to permanent registration.

• Adopt the National Heritage Convention – 
HERCON criteria as a basis for assessment. 

• Develop and promote guidelines to assist 
government agencies in their review of 
inventories and heritage lists. 

Objective 2: Western Australia’s heritage places 
are conserved through sound heritage practice 
and harmonious development, and their full 
potential is realised. Strategies to achieve this 
outcome include:

• Ensure heritage is actively supported in 
statutory and regulatory frameworks, and 
metropolitan and regional planning.

http://www.stateheritage.wa.gov.au/publications
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• Build capacity in the heritage sector by 
delivering and facilitating training and 
education.

• Increase investment in heritage conservation 
advocating best practice in heritage 
management and realisation of economic 
potential.

• Development proposals assessed in an 
informed, reasonable, timely, consistent, 
transparent and understandable way.

Initiatives to achieve this outcome are:

• Revitalise selected disused and neglected 
publicly-owned buildings for beneficial 
conservation and economic outcomes.

• Oversee conservation and interpretation 
of all heritage values of places under our 
management to promote a sustainable 
future for the asset. 

• Encourage a holistic approach within 
Government to include heritage 
considerations when establishing 
frameworks, policies and strategies. 

• Promote good heritage practice throughout 
the sector through provision of advice, 
workshops, conferences, online information 
and partnering with training providers. 

Objective 3: The importance of heritage places 
to Western Australia’s identity and quality of life 
is understood and appreciated. Appreciation 
and understanding of heritage is pivotal to 
delivering quality cultural heritage services. 
Strategies to achieve this outcome include:

• Work with partners and communities to 
promote engagement with the State’s 
cultural heritage.

• Promote heritage champions and success 
stories to celebrate our State’s heritage and 
those who care for it.

• Support heritage tourism opportunities 
Statewide to stimulate the economy and 
promote Western Australian cultural 
heritage to visitors.

Initiatives to achieve this outcome are:

• Undertake regular regional visits and 
support heritage focussed conferences. 

• Delivery of the annual Western Australian 
Heritage Awards.

• Work with tourism authorities, representative 
bodies and other stakeholders on 
advocating cultural heritage tourism as an 
opportunity to attract new visitors to the 
State and contribute to the Government 
targets for tourism and economic growth.

Image: Jetty to Jetty Walk Trail, Broome. Joint Winner, 
Interpretation Project, 2018 WA Heritage Awards
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Photograph supplied by Acorn Photo
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The Heritage Council contributes to the Government goal of creating better places: 
a quality environment with liveable and affordable communities and vibrant regions. 
This is achieved through the three objectives of the Strategic Plan 2018-2022. 

Objective 1:  Assessment and registration of heritage places

Objective 2:  Conservation of heritage places

Objective 3:  Heritage promotion and tourism

The Heritage Council works towards a 
comprehensive register of culturally significant 
sites to the State; operates with well 
understood, open and transparent criteria for 
entry to the Register; and promotes consistency 
and high standards in heritage identification and 
listing practices.

State Register of Heritage Places

The State Register of Heritage Places is a 
statutory list of places that represent the story 
of Western Australia’s history and development. 
Entry in the State Register recognises the value 
and importance of a place and helps promote 
its preservation into the future.

Places can be added to the State Register on an 
interim basis at the Minister’s discretion. Before 
interim registered places are made permanent, 
the proposal is publicly advertised for six 
weeks. After this the Heritage Council makes 
a recommendation to the Minister on whether 
the place should be added to the State Register 
permanently. For all practical purposes, there is 
no difference between interim and permanent 
registration in terms of protecting what is 
important about a place.

Places are entered in the State Register 
following a rigorous assessment and registration 
process, which includes extensive engagement 
with owners, local governments and other 
stakeholders. Stakeholder consultation can 
take time, sometimes several years. At times 
consultation may also be deferred for a number 
of reasons. 

OBJECTIVE 1:
ASSESSMENT AND REGISTRATION 
OF HERITAGE PLACES
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Where consultation has been inactive for some 
time and is being reactivated, it is prudent 
that the Heritage Council reaffirms its decision 
that the place warrants consideration for the 
State Register, in which case the assessment 
documentation is brought up to date. The 
Heritage Council re-affirmed its decision on 
three pre-existing assessments and a further six 
were deemed below threshold this year.

Places typically come to the attention of the 
Heritage Council through either a nomination 
or referral. Any member of the community, 
or an organisation, can nominate a place to 
be considered for entry in the State Register. 
Most referrals received are from government 
agencies. 

On receiving a nomination or referral, the 
Department drafts a preliminary review, which 
is then considered by the Heritage Council’s 
Register Committee. Less than half of all the 
places that have undergone a preliminary 
review have been determined to warrant full 
assessment for possible inclusion in the State 
Register, and the rate is steadily decreasing 
as the work of populating the State Register 
progresses.

A full heritage assessment considers a range of 
heritage values including the aesthetic, historic, 
scientific and social values of a place, in addition 
to its rarity, representativeness, condition, 
integrity and authenticity. The Department 
does the assessment work and then undertakes 
comprehensive stakeholder engagement.

Places that the Heritage Council considers meet 
the criteria for registration are recommended to 
the Minister for Heritage. The Minister makes 
the final decision on whether the place will be 
entered in the State Register.

Assessments and registrations in 
2017-18

• 49 places underwent a preliminary review by 
the Register Committee. 

• 10 new places progressed to stakeholder 
consultation in view of their possible 
inclusion in the Register. 

• Three places did not meet the threshold for 
entry in the Register. 

• There are currently 71 places that have been 
fully assessed that are at the stakeholder 
engagement phase of the process.

• Eight places added to the State Register on 
an interim basis.

• Five places added to the State Register on a 
permanent basis. 

• Total number of registered places is 1,368.

Some of the highlights of this year’s registrations 
are: 

• Camel Station, Sandstone - the remote bush 
location of an infamous crime committed in 
the late 1920s that attracted international 
media attention as the ‘perfect murder’, the 
station was constructed by the government 
in 1908 to breed camels as pack and draft 
animals servicing station outposts, and once 
housed 350 camels.

• Subiaco Oval – highly valued as the former 
home of Australian rules football in Western 
Australia, the place has one of the oldest 
Football ovals in the State.
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Image: Landscape of Camel Station, Sandstone, showing 
Dromedary Hills and Rabbit Proof Fence

Image: Ruins of Camel Station, Sandstone

• Albany Co-Operative Society Building – 
built in 1870 by one of the first co-operative 
societies in Australia, and the first in Western 
Australia, the society aimed to help local 
workers buy basic provisions at reasonable 
prices.

• Piesse’s Winery (fmr), Katanning – the main 
feature of this largely archaeological site 
is the 1910 red brick Distillery Tower. Built 
by Frederick Piesse, who helped shape the 
economy of Katanning and the surrounding 
district, its crenelated roofline is a distinctive 
local landmark.
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CAMEL STATION 
This remote bush location was included on the State Register of Heritage Places in March 2018. 
It was a unique assessment, which focussed on the history and significance of camels in the 
development of regional Western Australia, as well as the site’s involvement in a murder that 
attracted international media attention. Located along the Rabbit Proof Fence, the site comprises 
the ruins of a 1920s stone residence, wooden structures and timber-lined tank. The area is owned 
by the State of Western Australia, Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (Pastoral Lands), 
and is part of the larger Narndee Station.

The story of the ‘Murchison Murders’ at Camel Station and killer Stanley ‘Snowy’ Rowles has 
its origins in the work of Australian crime novelist Arthur Upfield, and his fictional Aboriginal 
detective Napoleon Bonaparte. At this time, the Camel Station was a government farm 
established in 1908 to breed camels as pack and draft animals servicing station outposts. In 1929, 
Arthur Upfield was stationed there as a boundary rider on the Rabbit Proof Fence. While writing 
his novel, The Sands of Windee, he discussed the ‘perfect’ disposal of a fictional murder victim 
with fellow workers, including labourer Snowy Rowles. The method involved burning the body, 
and then sifting through the ashes for identifiable metal objects which were to be dissolved in 
acid, and then crushing any remaining bone fragments. 

Later that year, Rowles left Camel Station with local labourers James Ryan and George Lloyd, who 
were never seen again. In 1930, Rowles left the station with New Zealander Louis Carron who had 
a £25 cheque. Rowles cashed the cheque and was later seen burning clothes. Carron was also 
never seen again. After his arrest, it was discovered that Rowles was actually prison escapee John 
Thomas Smith, and had been using the method in Upfield’s ‘perfect murder’ to dispose of his 
victims. He was convicted, and executed at Fremantle Prison in 1932. 

Apart from the amazing story associated with this place the addition of Camel Station, Sandstone 
to the State Register has addressed a number of important themes, some of which were under-
represented. Camels and the government’s role in breeding them, have received very little 
coverage despite these beasts being the backbone of transport and communication in remote 
areas through to the early 20th century. The place also represents one of the last frontiers of 
British colonisation in the state, and demonstrates the nature of remote living through the simple 
construction methods employed to create the station living quarters. 

While the theme of law and order is generally well represented on the State Register of Heritage 
Places, most of the entries are sites where judicial and policing processes were carried out, such 
as prisons, lock-ups, police stations and court houses. Camel Station, Sandstone is a historically-
significant example of a place associated with a crime and with criminals. This is an important 
distinction which is not always explored in Western Australian history; that crimes and the people 
who commit them can have as much of a role in shaping Western Australian identity as the State’s 
leading men and women.



Contents   I   Message from the Chair   I   Operational Highlights   I  Operational Performance  I  Disclosures

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
HERITAGE COUNCIL OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

29

LGA Place 
No Place Name Address Interim

Katanning 1334
Piesse’s winery (fmr), 
Katanning

Lot 201 Warren Rd, 
Katanning

7/11/17

Katanning 1355
Kobeelya, 
Katanning

Lot 131 Kobeelya Av, 
Katanning

7/11/17

Bridgetown 3583
Bridgetown Roads 
Board Office (fmr)

17 Steere St, 
Bridgetown

7/11/17

Subiaco 11923 Subiaco Oval
304 Roberts Rd, 
Subiaco

2/03/18

Sandstone 25841
Camel Station, 
Sandstone

Dromedary Hills, 
Sandstone

6/03/18

Albany 0021
Wesley Church Group, 
Albany

12 Duke St,   
Albany

17/04/18

Albany 0016
Albany State School 
Group (fmr)

117-121 Serpentine Rd, 
Albany

17/04/18

Albany 3555
Albany Co-Operative 
Society Building (fmr)

46 Frederick St,  
Albany

17/04/18

State Register of Heritage Places Interim Registrations 2017-18

LGA Place 
No Place Name Address Interim Permanent

Fremantle 25225 West End, Fremantle Fremantle 18/11/16 18/7/17

Perth 3847
Edith Cowan’s House & 
Skinner Gallery (fmr)

31 Malcolm St, West 
Perth

23/9/16 8/9/17

Katanning 1334
Piesse’s Winery (fmr), 
Katanning

L201 Warren Rd, 
Katanning

7/11/07 17/4/18

Bunbury 370
Solicitor’s Rooms (fmr), 
Bunbury

99 Victoria St,  
Bunbury

8/6/17 17/4/18

Bridgetown- 
Greenbushes

3583
Bridgetown Roads 
Board Office (fmr)

17 Steere St, 
Bridgetown

7/11/17 17/4/18

State Register of Heritage Places Permanent Registrations 2017-18
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Government Heritage Property 
Disposal Process

The purpose of the Government Heritage 
Property Disposal Process (GHPDP) is to 
identify and assess the heritage value of State 
Government property under consideration for 
disposal, and to provide relevant protection 
where appropriate. Disposal includes the 
demolition, sale, transfer or lease of a property 
out of the State Government sector (the transfer 
or lease must be for at least 10 years). 

The policy applies to all State Government 
agencies and organisations listed in Schedule 1 
of the Financial Management Act 2006, as well 
as the Government Trading Enterprises. These 
agencies are required to notify the Heritage 
Council if they intend to dispose of or demolish 
a property which: 

• is more than 60 years old

• is listed on an existing heritage list such as a 
local government inventory

• displays other evidence of potential heritage 
significance. 

This year, 23 places were referred to the 
Heritage Council through the GHPDP and 
had preliminary reviews. Of these, no places 
were identified as warranting assessment for 
possible entry in the State Register as part of 
larger groups or precincts, or as warranting 
individual assessment. In response to previous 
decisions, one assessment was undertaken by a 
government agency under the GHPDP.

The number of places being referred under the 
GHPDP this year is lower than previous years 
as a result of the strategic thematic approach 
adopted by two agencies with large-scale 
disposal programs; Department of Communities - 
Housing, and Main Roads Western Australia.

Accessing information on State 
Registered places

More information on new inclusions in the 
State Register can be found through inHerit, 
the online database of heritage places. This 
information includes the significance and history 
of the place; other applicable heritage listings; 
curtilage area; spatial mapping and street view; 
and images. inHerit is hosted and managed by 
the Department. Information on locally-listed 
places is managed by local governments, which 
can create, edit and publish their own records 
through inHerit. 

inHerit is a statewide online repository of 
information on more than 25,000 places of 
heritage interest. It contains information 
on State and locally-listed places; places in 
local government inventories; National Trust 
classifications; places on the Heritage Council’s 
Assessment Program or places that have come 
to the notice of the Heritage Council through 
surveys and nominations. 

In 2017-18, inHerit usage increased by 
approximately 15% to more than 112,000 
sessions, with 83,073 unique users visiting 
inHerit and viewing 378,944 pages, which was 
an increase on the previous financial year when 
71,218 unique users viewed 335,729 pages.
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Heritage Bill 2017

The Heritage Council and Department are 
continuing to work with the Government on new 
heritage legislation.

The Heritage Bill 2017 is the culmination of a 
comprehensive review, and will provide modern, 
updated legislation to preserve places that tell 
the story of our State’s history and development.

The Bill was developed through three rounds 
of stakeholder and community consultation. 
Feedback from the public consultation helped 
inform new heritage legislation that is open, 
transparent, simple to operate and easy to 
understand, and able to reflect best practice 
in the recognition and protection of heritage 
places. 

The Bill retains features of the current Heritage 
Act that have served well in the recognition 
and protection of Western Australia’s most 
important heritage places during the past 27 
years.  Informed by the feedback received from 
the public consultation, the Bill also addresses 
the shortcomings of the current Heritage 
Act by introducing new features that reflect 
contemporary heritage management principles 
and practice.

The Bill was introduced into the Parliament in 
November 2017. The Heritage Bill 2017 passed 
the Legislative Assembly and was introduced 
into the Legislative Council in June 2018. 

Thematic history of Western 
Australia 

One of the priority projects in the Heritage 
Council’s Strategic Plan for 2016-20 was the 
development of a thematic history of Western 
Australia. This project also aligns with the 
priority of making the Register a comprehensive 
list of places recognised for their cultural 
heritage significance in the Heritage Council’s 
Strategic Plan 2018-2022.

A thematic history identifies and explains the 
primary factors, processes and events that have 
shaped the subject being investigated, outlining 
its historical development and illustrating 
the factors which have defined its distinctive 
character over time. The information is typically 
arranged in a thematic framework that groups 
subjects and topics together. 

This project commenced in 2016-17, with a draft 
thematic framework being presented at the 
WA State History and Heritage Conference and 
workshopped with stakeholders. 

The work to develop a thematic framework of 
the history of Western Australia to assist the 
Heritage Council in making decisions about 
whether places warrant inclusion in the State 
Register of Heritage Places was completed in 
2017-18, with the drafting of the framework 
and compilation of short narratives on the 
key themes. Once endorsed by the Heritage 
Council, the Department will develop the 
material into a range of products to inform and 
for use by the Heritage Council and the public. 
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The Heritage Council works with key agencies to 
ensure heritage is actively supported in statutory 
and regulatory frameworks and planning, build 
capacity in the sector, increase investment 
in conservation and ensure development 
proposals referred to us are appropriately 
assessed.

Development of heritage places

The Heritage Council provides statutory advice 
to local governments and other decision-making 
authorities on changes or development to 
State Registered places, prior to works being 
undertaken. 

The Heritage Council has authorised the 
Department to deal with the majority of 
development proposals under a delegation 
framework. Complex, major and sensitive 
developments are dealt with by the Heritage 
Council or its Development Committee.

Owners and their consultants are encouraged 
to seek input from the Department’s Heritage 
Development team at the early stages of their 
project when working on a State Registered 
place. Discussions at this stage can identify ways 
in which the project objectives can be met while 
protecting heritage values.  

The heritage values of a place may include 
building fabric that tells its story, such as the 
materials and construction method or decorative 
elements, as well as the setting and landscape. 
These elements together paint a picture of when 
the place was constructed and its purpose; the 

people who lived or used the spaces and their 
general way of life; the economic circumstances 
and scientific or technical innovations; as well 
as the broader story of the aspirations, cultural 
norms and values of our community at the time. 
More information about developing heritage 
places can be found at stateheritage.wa.gov.au.

The Heritage Council and the Department work 
together with owners and industry to encourage 
sensitive development and new compatible uses 
of heritage places because this is the best way 
of assuring their future. Early discussions with 
stakeholders about their proposed development 
plans provides the opportunity for timely 
feedback and advice from the Department to 
enable quicker turnaround times for formal 
referrals to the Heritage Council.

Proposals that may affect a State Registered 
place are referred to the Heritage Council under 
the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990. 
Section 11 of the Act requires a decision-making 
authority to determine proposals consistent with 
Heritage Council advice unless the decision-
making authority concludes there is no feasible 
and prudent alternative. This may result in an 
approval that is inconsistent with Heritage 
Council advice. While this is permitted by the 
Act, such a determination would generally result 
in a negative heritage outcome. Instances are 
therefore recorded within the Annual Report 
and form part of the Heritage Council’s key 
performance indicators. There were no such 
instances this year.

OBJECTIVE 2:  
CONSERVATION OF   
HERITAGE PLACES

http://www.stateheritage.wa.gov.au/conservation-and-development 
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Development referrals in 2017-18

• 963 development referrals determined 
during the year, 93% dealt with by the 
Department under its delegation from the 
Heritage Council. 

• 92% of development referrals were 
processed within 30 days. Those taking 
more than 30 days were more complex, 
requiring consideration by the Development 
Committee or Heritage Council.

• 72 development referrals escalated to 
the Development Committee or Heritage 
Council for determination, a decrease of 
eight from the previous year. 

Place No 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18
30 days or under 796 879 866

Over 30 days 102 57 77

TOTAL 898 936 963

Referral Times

The following graphs provide a breakdown of 
development referrals by referral processing 
times, delegation and regions. 

Place No 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18
Referrals made under delegated authority 824 856 891

Referrals determined by Development 
Committee or Heritage Council 74 80 72

TOTAL 898 936 963

Referrals by delegation

Place No 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18
Metropolitan Areas 619 646 680

Regional Areas 279 290 283

TOTAL 898 936 963

Referrals by Regions
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KATANNING ROLLER FLOUR MILL 
Built in 1891, the Katanning Roller Flour Mill building is a three-storey flour mill on the corner of 
Clive Street and Austral Terrace, Katanning.  It was built by merchant, agriculturalist and politician 
Frederick Henry Piesse.  The mill building has dominated the skyline since it construction in the 
town of Katanning, a town that was born from the introduction of the Great Southern rail line. The 
mill building is significant due to the high degree of intactness of the plant and machinery, and is 
a rare example of a turn of the century flour mill. 

The mill building ceased operating as a flour mill when it closed in 1976.  It was then managed 
by the Shire of Katanning and was used as a museum and offices for the Katanning Tourist 
Association.  The Museum ceased in about 2010 and the building lay vacant.

The transformation of the Katanning Roller Flour Mill began in 2013 when Dome Coffees first 
approached the Heritage Council with a concept proposal to adapt the mill building into a café 
and Dome Coffees’ very first accommodation venue.   Dome Coffees presented the concept 
to the Development Committee in August 2013.  The presentation was received with great 
interest and the Committee was supportive in principle of the adaptive reuse.  The Committee 
acknowledged that Dome Coffees has experience in adaptive reuse projects and has been the 
recipient of Heritage Council awards for such work and was reassured that it would undertake the 
project with similar sensitivity.

Some of the challenges of adapting the building were the extant machinery and the ability to 
bring the building up to contemporary compliance standards.  The staff at the Department liaised 
closely with the Dome Coffees project team to work through the finer details so that the adaptive 
reuse would not negatively impact on the proposal.

The project was also awarded $100,000 in a Heritage Council grant, which assisted with the multi-
million dollar project that saw a considerable amount of conservation work undertaken at the 
former mill building, starting with re-roofing in traditional short sheet galvanised steel, repairs 
to deteriorated joists and the prevention of damp in the basement. Window and door joinery 
were also repainted during initial works, and the façades investigated for deterioration before 
restoration works were carried out.

The Café opened on 30 April 2018, exactly 127 years to the day after the opening ceremony of the 
Premier Roller Flour Mill in 1891.  The building has been beautifully and meticulously conserved 
and sympathetically adapted for the new uses.
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Major projects

The Heritage Council and the Department 
were actively involved in a number of major 
metropolitan projects including: 

• New Museum Perth

• Raine Square

• 151-165 Beaufort Street 

• Hibernian Hall (Westin)

The Heritage Council and Department were 
also involved in several key projects in regional 
Western Australia:

• Affordable Student Accommodation at the 
former Albany State School

• Chinatown Master Plan in Broome.

• Rose Hotel & Sample Room, Bunbury

• Harvey Agricultural College (former)

Images: Garum, Hibernian Hall.    
Photographs supplied by the Westin Perth
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Heritage Agreements

A Heritage Agreement is a legally binding 
contract that sets out a framework for the 
long-term conservation, maintenance and/or 
interpretation of a place. If the place is sold after 
the owner signs the Heritage Agreement,  
it normally remains binding on the new owner.

The Department, on behalf of the Heritage 
Council, prepared and completed 15 new 
Heritage Agreements pursuant to section 29 
of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 
in respect of 13 places (see table below), and 
amended one existing heritage agreement.

Place No Place Name
378 Bunbury Post Office & Bonded Store (fmr)

792 Woodside Hospital, East Fremantle

877 Warders Cottages, Fremantle (2 new agreements)1

2050 Perth Chest Clinic

2155 Rechabite Hall, Northbridge

2173 Perth Girls School1

3239 Cossack Townsite Precinct2

3273 Midland Railway Workshops1

3648 Coogee Hotel and Post Office

7725 House, 6 Grange Street, Claremont3

7784 House, 21 Melville Street, Claremont3

9824 Raine Square

10181 Bebo Moro, Guildford

25526 Three Houses, 55-59 Goderich Street, Perth (2 new agreements)1, 3

1 This place consists of multiple separate lots and is subject to multiple heritage agreements.
2 The 1997 heritage agreement in respect of this place was amended.
3 This place is not on the State Register but is recognised as being significant to the local government district. 

The heritage agreement is between the local government and the owner.

There are currently 158 Heritage Agreements 
in effect for 136 places, of which 116 places are 
entered in the State Register. Some places are 
subject to more than one Heritage Agreement 
because the place includes two or more 
separate structures or significant lots that are 
each the subject of a Heritage Agreement. 
Most of these heritage agreements are between 
the property owner or lessee and the Heritage 
Council. 

The Department assists local governments in 
the preparation of Heritage Agreements for 
places of local heritage significance that are not 
in the State Register, as permitted under section 
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29(2)(c) of the Heritage of Western Australia 
Act 1990. The Heritage Council is not a party 
to these agreements. Rather, these Heritage 
Agreements are between local governments 
and property owners only. In 2017-18, the 
Department assisted the Town of Claremont 
to prepare two local Heritage Agreements and 
assisted the City of Perth to prepare two local 
Heritage Agreements.

Regulatory Orders

Under section 59 of the Heritage of Western 
Australia Act 1990, the Heritage Minister may 
issue an order to provide special protection for 
a place.

• A ‘Conservation Order’ is an on-going 
protective order that remains in effect 
indefinitely, unless an end-date is specified. 
It requires public consultation before the 
Minister may issue it.

• A ‘Stop Work Order’ is a protective order 
that automatically expires after 42 days. It 
does not require public consultation.

• A ‘Consent Order’ is a protective order that 
only requires the owner’s consent. It remains 
in effect for as long as the owner agrees. It 
does not require public consultation.

The Minister agreed to issue one consent 
conservation order in 2017-18.

Image: Coogee Hotel and Post Office

Image: Alex T Brown shipwreck.
Photograph supplied by Patrick Baker.
Copyright @WA Museum



Contents   I   Message from the Chair   I   Operational Highlights   I  Operational Performance  I  Disclosures

38

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
HERITAGE COUNCIL OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

ALEX T BROWN  
The Alex T Brown was a 788-ton, four-masted wooden lumber schooner built in Seattle, 
Washington, USA. It was blown ashore near Yanchep in May 1917, after leaving Fremantle. The 
wreck is a rarity, being one of only two four-masted schooners wrecked in Australia. It is also 
representative of large wooden commercial sailing vessels built during the final years of North 
American wooden shipbuilding.

The Alex T Brown lies on Crown land, being Reserve No. 20561, which is under a Management 
Order issued to the City of Wanneroo. The Wreck is listed in the City of Wanneroo’s Local 
Heritage Survey under category 4, which provides recognition of heritage value and encourages 
conservation. While the wreck is listed in the Local Heritage Survey, it is not protected as a historic 
wreck, as the Maritime Archaeology Act 1973 (WA), administered by the Western Australian 
Museum, does not extend to a maritime archaeology site created after 1 January 1900.

In August 2017, a Two Rocks resident reported that the wreck had been vandalised. 

Concerned with the lack of protection provided to the wreck, the Western Australian Museum 
contacted the Department to see if the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 could help protect 
the wreck. Following discussions between the Department, the Western Australian Museum and 
the City of Wanneroo it was agreed that the Museum should seek a Consent Conservation Order 
under section 59(2)(a) of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990.

The Western Australian Museum wrote to the Heritage Council in April seeking its support to 
protect the wreck. The Heritage Council considered this request at its meeting in May 2018 and 
recommended that the Minister issues a Consent Conservation Order to assist the Western 
Australia Museum in protecting the wreck, which is of great significance to the maritime history 
of Western Australia, from any further damage. The Minister for Heritage agreed to issue the 
Conservation Order in June 2018.

The Conservation Order prohibits the demolition, damage or alteration of the remains of the Alex 
T Brown shipwreck.
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Fremantle Prison

The history of Fremantle Prison dates back to the 
early beginnings of the Swan River Colony and its 
role in the development of Western Australia is 
unparalleled. In 2010, it became the first building 
in Western Australia to be included on the World 
Heritage list as part of a serial nomination with 10 
other Australian Convict Sites.

As the only built Western Australian World 
Heritage property, Fremantle Prison operates 
as a heritage precinct that balances its cultural 
heritage significance with complementary 
activities that generate revenue for the 
conservation of the site. To promote visitor 
engagement with the site and generate 
income to contribute to its maintenance and 
operation, it offers a range of interpretive tours 
of the Prison and its tunnels, exhibitions, retail 
opportunities, a café, unique venue spaces 
and events. In addition, the site offers leasing 
opportunities for compatible-use tenants.

The Heritage Council, consistent with 
requirements of the UNSECO World Heritage 
Convention, performs the role of providing 
expert oversight of the Department’s 
conservation, management and operation 
of Fremantle Prison. In addition to receiving 
regular reports on the Prison’s operations, 
the Heritage Council reviews conservation 
management plans, projects and programs 
to ensure best practice standards in cultural 
heritage management applied to the site.

Fremantle Prison continues to be recognised 
through awards programs as a hallmark cultural 
tourism destination.  In 2017-18, Fremantle 
Prison was Awarded gold for Cultural Tourism 
at the 2017 Qantas Australian Tourism Awards. 
In November 2018, the Prison will be inducted 
into the WA Tourism Awards Hall of Fame for 
winning gold in the Cultural Tourism category 
for the last three years.

During 2017-18, 191,387 people visited 
Fremantle Prison.

Future growth, and any works required to 
support this, has been keenly explored and will 
be detailed in a draft Master Plan, due to be 
presented to the community for comment in 
2018-19.

Image: Fremantle Prison Main Cell Block.  
Photograph supplied by Jessica Wyld

Heritage Revolving Fund - 
Heritage Works

The Heritage Works Revolving Fund Program 
has completed its fourth year of operation, 
following its launch in May 2014. 

Heritage Works was established to revitalise 
vacant and under-utilised State or local 
government owned heritage properties through 
conservation and adaptive reuse, and transition 
them to new ownership. 

Services provided by Heritage Works include 
feasibility analysis; conservation planning and 
works; financial support (where required); project 
management; and support with marketing and 
sales.

The program completed its first two projects: 
the Warders’ Cottages in Fremantle, and the 
former Coogee Hotel and Post Office, and 
commenced a number of others during 2017-18. 
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The sale of the Coogee Hotel was finalised in 
December 2017, following the extensive pre-
sale preparation undertaken by Heritage Works 
on behalf of Main Roads WA.

The final two sales of residential cottages 
within the Warders’ Cottages W3 terrace 
were completed in early 2017-18, bringing 
to a conclusion the sales of the W2 and W3 
terraces. A contract of sale was executed with a 
commercial buyer of the W1 terrace in August 
2017.  The latter was a conditional sale, and 
settlement is anticipated in late 2018. 

Feasibility analysis was carried out on four other 
heritage places:

• Maylands Brickworks (on behalf of the City 
of Bayswater)

• Western Australian Bank, Kalgoorlie (on 
behalf of Department of Communities - 
Housing)

• Fremantle Technical College Annexe (on 
behalf of the Land Use Management division 
of the Department)

• East Fremantle Post Office (on behalf of 
Main Roads WA).

The Maylands Brickworks feasibility analysis 
was a large undertaking due to the scale and 
complexity of the site, including two former 
industrial structures which have been vacant and 
fenced off since 1983.  The project included a 
community engagement component, conducted 
in February and March 2018.  

Conservation works for the Fremantle Technical 
College Annexe will commence on site in 
October 2018, with works to the Western 
Australian Bank, Kalgoorlie to follow. Works to 
the Fremantle Technical College will be financed 
from the Department’s Land Divestment Fund 

rather than the Heritage Revolving Fund, in a 
collaboration with the Land Use Management 
division.

Heritage Works complements the Government’s 
wider land asset sales program and effectively 
operates as a niche component of that wider 
program.

Assistance for heritage property 
owners

One of the Heritage Council’s key objectives 
is that Western Australia’s heritage places are 
conserved through sound heritage practice, 
successful adaptation and harmonious 
development.

One way in which we achieve this objective is 
by providing or facilitating incentives for owners 
of State Registered heritage places. Since 
1997, the Heritage Council has offered financial 
incentives to custodians of our State’s heritage 
places through its annual Heritage Grants 
Program.

On behalf of the Heritage Council, the 
Department administers the Heritage Grants 
Program as well as providing information and 
advice on other incentives and assistance 
available to property owners.

Heritage Grants Program

The Heritage Grants Program assists owners 
of State Registered heritage places by offering 
grants of up to $100,000 on a dollar-for-dollar 
basis for essential conservation works and 
the preparation of conservation management 
plans or strategies. Since the program began in 
1996-97, more than 750 heritage projects have 
been awarded grants totalling more than $19.5 
million. 
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This year, $1,244,359 was acquitted for grant-
funded projects, with 26 projects completed 
during the period. Of the completed projects, 
25 were from previous years’ grant rounds and 
one was from the 2017-18 funding round.

2017-18 funding round

The 2017-18 funding round opened on 13 
September 2017 and saw 64 applications 
received, maintaining the level of interest 
demonstrated last year. The applications sought 
a total of $3.390 million in funding to complete 
$8.199 million in conservation projects. Of these, 
23 applications were successful, with $1.222 
million in grant funding awarded between 10 
regional and 13 metropolitan conservation 
projects. The projects are expected to deliver 
a combined conservation investment of more 
than $3.090 million. Two additional projects 
were funded using returned funds from previous 
years’ grant budgets.

Under an agreement entered with the State 
Government in 1996, the City of Karratha 
(formerly Shire of Roebourne) is granted 
$120,000 per annum for the maintenance of 
the historic Cossack town site. This funding is 
provided as a controlled grant within the State 
budget and administered by the Department. 
The Heritage Council paid an additional amount 
of $69,000 to the City of Karratha in 2017-18 
to assist with the increased costs of the site’s 
ongoing heritage conservation.

Details of the Heritage Grants Program 
allocations can be found in Appendix 1. Further 
information on the grant projects can be found 
at grants.stateheritage.wa.gov.au.

Project compliance monitoring

Grant projects are monitored through the 
reporting schedule required by each project’s 
grant agreement. To enhance the Heritage 
Council’s relationship with project managers 
and property owners, and to ensure the reports 
being submitted accurately illustrated actual 
project outcomes, 10 site visits were undertaken 
by the Department in 2017-18. Of these, three 
were in the metropolitan area and seven were in 
rural or regional areas. 

http://www.stateheritage.wa.gov.au/conservation-and-development/grants-incentives/heritage-grants-program/past-heritage-grant-recipients/2017-18-heritage-grants-program-recipients
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P18772 – WAREHOUSE, 22-26 PAKENHAM 
STREET, FREMANTLE  
On the corner of Pakenham and Leake Streets, in the heart of Fremantle’s West End Precinct, lies 
a former warehouse that was built in 1907 by prominent businessman and independent State 
politician Timothy Quinlan (1861-1927). The property remained in family ownership for 90 years, 
before being sold in 1997.

An unusually intact example of a 1900s warehouse, 22-26 Pakenham Street was built in the simple 
Federation Warehouse style, using red brick laid in a standard English Bond. The truncated corner 
provides the main entrance, and also acts as a backdrop for the building’s few decorative exterior 
elements, with a detailed triangular pediment to the ground floor doorway, a segmental pediment 
above the first floor windows and a decorated parapet topping the corner façade. Details to 
the Leake Street and Pakenham Street facades are minimal in comparison, with the brickwork, 
rendered bands and window openings taking the simplistic uniform appearance expected of a 
warehouse from the era.

The two-storey building now functions as the Pakenham Street Art Space, a popular contemporary 
arts exhibition, studio, curatorial and performance venue, and has been lucky to find itself 
the subject of an ongoing conservation program, following completion of a grant-assisted 
conservation management plan in 2010. The conservation management plan incorporated a 
structural engineer’s report to assist in identifying defects and to ensure these were remedied 
according to priority, in line with best practice from both engineering and heritage conservation 
standards.

Previous projects were undertaken to repair structural degradation to the exterior and interior and 
restore the original exterior appearance by removing intrusive paint and mortar and reinstating 
original elements. This year’s grant-assisted project saw continued conservation of the building 
with reconnection of floor and roof timbers to the walls, stabilisation of the walls, rebuilding of 
a section to the entrance threshold and a geotechnical investigation to identify any underlying 
site issues, which will help inform the planning of future conservation works and monitoring of 
potential issues.

Image: Warehouse, 22-26 Pakenham Street, 
Fremantle (PS Art Studio and Gallery Complex)

The continued conservation of the building 
demonstrates an exemplary commitment 
to heritage conservation by the owner. By 
employing the services of experienced 
heritage professionals, the owner has 
ensured that the building is conserved 
according to best practice, enhancing the 
longevity of the building elements, improving 
the overall condition of the building and 
significantly reducing the need for repeated 
conservation works in future.
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We work in partnership to promote engagement 
with the State’s cultural heritage, celebrate 
our State’s heritage and those that care for it, 
and support cultural tourism opportunities to 
stimulate the economy and promote Western 
Australian to visitors.

Western Australian   
Heritage Awards

The Heritage Council’s Western Australian 
Heritage Awards, established in 1992, is the 
premier event in Western Australia’s heritage 
calendar. It showcases excellence in revitalising 
heritage places, setting standards for future 
interpretation, conservation and adaptive reuse 
of places on the State Register. The awards also 
recognise those individuals and organisations 
that have been instrumental in elevating the 
value of heritage, securing its place in the future 
development of Western Australia.

The awards are used to promote heritage 
success stories through the media and 
stakeholder internal and external publications, 
and to engage with heritage owners and other 
stakeholders. It is now being used to showcase 
WA heritage projects in the Asia-Pacific region 
following cooperation between the Heritage 
Council and the United Nations Educational, 
Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO). 

In 2012, the Heritage Council negotiated with 
UNESCO for WA Heritage Award conservation 
winning projects to be shortlisted for nomination 
for the UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural 
Heritage Conservation with Heritage Council 
endorsement.

OBJECTIVE 3:
HERITAGE PROMOTION
AND TOURISM

This cooperation between the Heritage Council 
and UNESCO has seen six WA heritage projects 
receive UNESCO Honourable Mentions in as 
many years, clearly showing the world-class 
standard of conservation work being undertaken 
in Western Australia.

Western Australian Heritage Award winning 
project, Brookman and Moir Streets Precinct, 
received the Award of Distinction at the 2017 
UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural 
Heritage Conservation.

The arrangement is just one of the ways that 
the Heritage Council seeks to promote Western 
Australian heritage on a state, national and 
international stage.

2018 Western Australian  Heritage 
Awards

The 2018 Western Australian Heritage Awards 
ceremony was held on 23 March 2018 at the 
Burt Memorial Hall in Cathedral Square, Perth. 
The event was attended by 120 guests including 
award finalists.

Of the 25 finalists, 19 individuals and heritage 
projects were recognised for heritage 
excellence, including the awarding of the Gerry 
Gauntlett Award and the Judges’ Award: The 
Professor David Dolan Award.

Regional projects dominated the interpretation, 
heritage tourism, volunteer and local government 
categories in 2018, with 16 of the 25 finalists on the 
evening hailing from country Western Australia.
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The number of tourism-related projects and 
individuals recognised as winners, including 
the Busselton Jetty Museum, Broome’s Jetty to 
Jetty Walk Trail and the Old Onslow Townsite, 
illustrate the important role heritage plays in 
creating vibrant sustainable communities for the 
enjoyment of tourists and local residents.

The transformation of Cue Public Buildings into 
a community and visitor centre received the 
prestigious Gerry Gauntlett Award for adaptive 
reuse, while MercyCare took home the Professor 
David Dolan Judges’ Award for the sensitive 
conservation and adaptation of the Catherine 
McAuley Centre that forms the centre piece of 
their Wembley campus.

The Heritage Awards received extensive 
media coverage in regional and community 
newspapers. In total there were 62 media 
appearances and interviews on the award 
finalists and winners, equivalent to an 
advertising space rate of $86,043 and reaching a 
cumulative audience of over 791,265 people.

Image: Guests gather at 2018 WA Heritage Awards



Contents   I   Message from the Chair   I   Operational Highlights   I  Operational Performance  I  Disclosures

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
HERITAGE COUNCIL OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

45

Voluntary Individual Contribution
Winner: Ian Wilson

Professional Contribution
Winner: Ryan Mossny, founder, Two Feet & a Heartbeat

Contribution by a Community-based Organisation
Winner: Northampton Friends of the Railway
Commendation: Kings Park Guides

Contribution by a Public or Private Organisation
Winner: Tradition Stained Glass & Leadlight

Heritage Practices by a Local Government
Winner: City of Bunbury
Commendation: Shire of Collie

Interpretation Project
Joint Winner: Busselton Jetty Museum
Joint Winner: Jetty to Jetty Walk Trail, Broome
Commendation: Old Onslow Interpretation Signage

Heritage Tourism Project
Winner: Hotham Valley Railway
Commendation: Kings Park Guided Walks

Conservation of a State Registered Place
Winner: Fremantle Town Hall
Joint Commendation: St Francis Xavier Cathedral, Geraldton
Joint Commendation: Gwalia Headframe (part of Gwalia Museum Group)

Adaptive Reuse of a State Registered Place
Winner: Cue Public Buildings
Commendation: Claremont Railway Station

The Gerry Gauntlett Award for Conservation and Adaptive Reuse
Winner: Cue Public Buildings

The Judges’ Award: The Professor David Dolan Award
Winner: MercyCare for the conservation of the Catherine McAuley Centre

More information on the finalists and winners, including judges’ citations and photographs can be found at  
stateheritage.wa.gov.au/awards.

The 2018 Western Australian Heritage Awards winners and commendations were:

http://stateheritage.wa.gov.au/awards


Contents   I   Message from the Chair   I   Operational Highlights   I  Operational Performance  I  Disclosures

46

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
HERITAGE COUNCIL OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

SMARTPHONE APP IS THE SMART WAY TO  
TAKE IN BROOME’S JETTY TRAIL  
When you travel along the Jetty to Jetty Walk Trail in Broome, you won’t need a guide to tell 
you about all the fascinating stories and characters that are a part of the historic pearling town. 
Instead, you’ll be able to hear and see them on your smartphone. 

The 3.4 kilometre self-guided walk starts at the landmark Streeter’s Jetty near Chinatown, and 
ends at the Old Jetty at Town Beach. Distinctive red interpretive signs mark the trail, pointing out 
13 historical and cultural sites along beautiful Roebuck Bay. As part of the heritage trail project, a 
smartphone app was developed for walkers to download on to their phones.

The app tells the story of the Yawuru people—the traditional owners of the area—as well as giving 
an insight into the town’s pearling history and first-person accounts from local identities who grew 
up and worked there. It features more than 90 minutes of stories and music, with some 25 people 
telling their stories as well as the tunes of renowned local songwriters such as Stephen Pigram and 
Jimmy Chi. 

The project was recognised as a joint winner in the interpretation category at the 2018 Western 
Australian Heritage Awards. At the awards night, Peter Yu, CEO of Nyambu Buru Yawuru said the 
Roebuck Bay foreshore was a special place for Aboriginal people. He said that most people think 
of Broome and think of Cable Beach, but for Aboriginal people who probably only hunted turtle 
at Cable Beach, Roebuck Bay was the main activity area.

“Most of us lived on the bay side and that’s where we grew up and we used the bay as our 
‘supermarket’ as people say, in terms of the right to gather food and those things,” he said.

The awards judges said that the Jetty to Jetty self-guided trail sensitively captures the complex 
layers of heritage along the Roebuck Bay foreshore.

“The Jetty to Jetty Walk Trail makes impressive use of technology, with multi-faceted stories told 
at each of the 13 sites on the trail,” they said.

Image:Jetty to Jetty Walk Trail, Broome. Joint Winner, 
Interpretation Project, 2018 WA Heritage Awards
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FREMANTLE TOWN HALL’S $3 MILLION 
MAKEOVER IS A HERITAGE MILESTONE  
Fremantle Town Hall is a heritage gem that has been at the centre of the community since it 
opened in 1887. For more than a century, it has hosted countless civic gatherings, gala dinners, 
weddings, theatrical performances, musical recitals and expos.

The City of Fremantle’s $3.1 million restoration of the 
Town Hall’s exterior is the largest conservation project 
ever undertaken by the City.

The project involved restoring the 130-year-old 
building’s original appearance by removing paint from 
the stucco walls, reconstructing roofs and refurbishing 
the historic clock. Works were carried out using 
traditional building techniques and materials.

The awards judges praised the Town Hall project saying 
it distinguishes itself through its consistent adherence 
to Burra Charter best practice principles, thorough 
research, innovative technical solutions, and painstaking 
attention to detail in the execution.

Regional Heritage Conference 
‘Sacred Heritage’

A major part of the Heritage Council’s 
engagement program is the support of an 
annual heritage conference.  Following the 
successful State Conference in early 2017, the 
developing pattern is to alternate a larger, 
Perth metro-based event with a smaller regional 
conference that can focus on a specific theme.  

In April 2018, the Heritage Council’s Regional 
Heritage Conference was delivered in 
Geraldton, with a theme of ‘Sacred Heritage’.  
The program was extended through associated 
events that allowed non-delegates to participate 
in different ways.  The first was a ‘Camino San 

Francisco’ walk that began in Northampton on 
6 April and concluded in Geraldton three days 
later.  The National Trust organised a stone 
repair workshop on the Wednesday prior to the 
conference, and on the Thursday evening the 
local community was invited to attend a public 
talk, which focussed on symbolism in church 
architecture.

A final event on the Saturday celebrated the 
community’s work to conserve and interpret the 
Greenough Pioneer cemetery.  This included a 
morning tea in the Greenough Museum, which 
is regarded as a great example of a ‘modern’ 
museum delivered by a community group. 

Image: Fremantle Town Hall, Winner, 
Conservation of a State Registered Place. 
Photograph supplied by City of Fremantle
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The two days of the main program attracted 
approximately 80 participants, who have given 
positive feedback on the quality of the program 
and the benefits gained from discussions 
and networking with other delegates.  This 
encourages collaboration and informed 
decision-making, and develops personal 
contacts between groups and agencies that can 
assist in future engagement. 

One particular benefit of the conference was 
the level of engagement with key stakeholders 
in the target audience.  Three main church 
groups were represented at both local and State 
level, including an on-site workshop to discuss 
potential uses for a redundant State Registered 
church in Geraldton.  The New Norcia 
community was also fully engaged, offering 
free entry to delegates travelling to or from the 
conference, providing a keynote speech by the 
Abbot, and sending three other staff members 
to attend the event.

Regional visits

In its role as the State’s advisory body on 
heritage matters, regional visits are a vital part 
of the Heritage Council’s process for developing 
relationships, activating communication and 
gathering information that will inform future 
decisions. 

The Heritage Council aims to undertake two 
regional visits each year, sending one or two 
representatives, supported by Department staff. 
The Heritage Council travelled to Karratha in 
June 2018 to visit Cossack. This visit provided an 
opportunity to discuss the future direction for 
this historic settlement. Now abandoned and 
with little infrastructure, the City of Karratha is 
proposing changes that will open up the town 
to new development that could assist in its 
regeneration as a tourism precinct.

As well as visiting Cossack and viewing the site 
first hand, the Heritage Council’s representatives 
were able to participate in discussions on the 
Roebourne Police and Court House precinct, 
another precinct that will need careful thought 
and a shared strategy for its future care.

The visit also provided an opportunity for the 
Heritage Council to see the Ngurin Bush Tucker 
Trail, a joint winning project of a 2017 Heritage 
Award for heritage tourism, and to present a 
copy of the certificate to the elders who had 
contributed to the project in person.

Heritage Council Chair presents Heritage Award certificate to Ngarluma 
elders David Walker and Pansy Hicks. Winner, Heritage Tourism Product, 
2017 WA Heritage Awards
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Promotion 

Under the Heritage of Western Australia Act 
1990, the Heritage Council is responsible 
for promoting public awareness of Western 
Australian cultural heritage. The Department 
undertakes these functions on behalf of the 
Heritage Council through a range of public and 
media events, marketing and publications, and 
other promotional activities.

Heritage Council Plaques Program

In 2014, the Heritage Council reintroduced its 
Heritage Plaques Program to recognise and 
celebrate places that are entered in the State 
Register of Heritage Places.

The plaques play a pivotal role in telling the 
stories surrounding State Registered places, 
promoting heritage tourism and encouraging 
community engagement with our heritage 
places. 

The list of places recommended to receive 
a plaque through the 2018 Plaques Program 
was compiled to commemorate the 
150th anniversary of the arrival of the last 
convict transportation ship to Australia, the 
Hougoumont, in Fremantle on 9 January 1868. 
A total of 20 convict places have been selected 
based upon the themes identified as covering 
the story of Convict Transportation to Western 
Australia.

To supplement the physical plaques, a virtual 
plaque for use on websites has also been 
developed and is available for owners of State 
Registered places. 

Heritage tourism

The Heritage Council and the Department 
continued to promote heritage tourism as 
outlined in the 2018 – 2022 Strategic Plan.

The Heritage Council aims to raise the profile 
of heritage tourism as a viable niche market 
and, through visitations, promote the ongoing 
conservation of WA’s built heritage.

During the year, partnerships were maintained 
with the Tourism Council WA, the Forum 
Advocating Cultural and Eco-Tourism (FACET), 
and Heritage Perth towards achieving these 
goals.

Highlights include:

• sponsorship of the Tourism Council Western 
Australian Tourism Awards

• ongoing inclusion of heritage tourism 
category in the Western Australian Heritage 
Awards

• sponsorship of Perth Heritage Days

• providing support to FACET to hold a 
heritage tourism half-day workshop.

Image: Fremantle Prison Gatehouse.
Photograph supplied by Jessica Wyld

http://www.stateheritage.wa.gov.au/about-us/importance-of-heritage/plaques-program
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Twitter 

In June 2014, the Heritage Council’s Twitter 
account (@StateHeritage) was launched.  

In the past year, Twitter has played a pivotal role 
in the media and marketing communications. 
Twitter has allowed the Heritage Council and 
the Department to interact and connect with 
the online community including the public, the 
media, heritage organisations and professionals, 
and State Departments and local government 
authorities. 

Annual Twitter statistics to 30 June 2018:

• 983 followers

• 145,600 impressions or views

• 559 clicks through to links

• 278 retweets

On average, the Heritage Council tweets daily 
on a variety of topics including new State 
Registrations; Heritage Council programs 
such as the Heritage Grants Program and WA 
Heritage Awards; and other heritage projects, 
events and news. 

The account enjoyed a 29% increase in followers 
who have engaged by re-tweeting to their 
followers, visiting the website and links, and 
tweeting directly to the Heritage Council. 

The success of the Twitter feed has promoted 
the Heritage Council’s brand and work. This 
enables greater visibility as a leading heritage 
‘voice’ and better connection with new 
audiences.

Heritage Matters eNewsletter

On behalf of the Heritage Council, the 
Department distributes a monthly electronic 
newsletter called Heritage Matters. The 
eNewsletter is distributed via email and 
contains a mix of news items including new 
additions to the State Register of Heritage 
Places, heritage seminars, events and incentives. 
The eNewsletter is also used to further 
relationships with industry partners, such as 
local governments and membership groups, by 
promoting their news and events.

Subscriptions to the Heritage Matters 
eNewsletter increased by 4% in the past year to 
1,104 subscribers, including organisations which 
distributed the eNewsletter to their members. 

https://twitter.com/StateHeritage
http://stateheritage.us4.list-manage2.com/subscribe?u=8bccd713775ead5c27de6fe83&id=1992ea081c


Contents   I   Message from the Chair   I   Operational Highlights   I  Operational Performance  I  Disclosures

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
HERITAGE COUNCIL OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

51

Engagement 

Key functions of the Heritage Council include 
the provision of advice, training and support 
to Government, decision makers, owners and 
managers that ensures sustainable, responsible 
and best practice management of heritage 
places; and respecting, sharing and celebrating 
the stories and achievements associated with 
heritage places of importance to Western 
Australia’s identity. This is achieved through 
representation on committees, presentations to 
key stakeholders and social media. 

The Department, on behalf of the Heritage 
Council, also develops strong relationships 
with the media and deliver a proactive media 
program that results in extensive exposure 
throughout the year. Highlights include: 

• State-wide coverage of the winners of the 
2018 WA Heritage awards

• coverage of the opening of the 2017-
18 Heritage Grants Program and 
announcement of grant recipients. 

Representation on committees 

In its role as the State Government’s 
advisory authority on heritage and under its 
responsibilities under the Heritage of Western 
Australia Act 1990, the Heritage Council and, 
through delegation, the Department, provide 
advice to various government agencies and are 
involved in a number of committees relating to 
heritage.

Typically, these relate to planning reforms and 
outcomes, conservation and adaptation of 
heritage places, and assistance to owners of 
heritage places.  These also include committees 
designed to support heritage tourism.

Committees that the Heritage Council and the 
Department are represented on include: 

• Central Perth Planning Committee (sub-
committee of Western Australian Planning 
Commission)

• Land Asset Management Advisory Group

• Western Australian Museum Maritime 
Archaeology Advisory Committee: advisory 
committee to WA Museum CEO on 
proposals relating to shipwrecks and other 
underwater cultural heritage

• WALIS (WA Land Information System) 
Council: coordinates across-government 
access and delivery of the location 
information held by WA Government 
agencies

• CFO Review Group: provides advice on 
behalf of small agencies to this financial 
advisory group

• Association of Perth Attractions.

Heritage Chairs and Officials of 
Australia and New Zealand

The Heritage Council and the Department 
are represented on the Heritage Chairs and 
Officials of Australia New Zealand (HCOANZ), 
which works on co-operative projects and shares 
expertise and experience to enhance and 
improve heritage management practice across 
all jurisdictions.

In May 2018, the HCOANZ meeting hosted 
by the Northern Territory Heritage Council 
in Darwin, was attended by the Chair of the 
Heritage Council and a representative of the 
Department. 
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It was a historic meeting of cultural heritage 
leaders across the jurisdictions as the Heritage 
Chairs were joined by representatives of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander heritage 
from the Commonwealth, States and Territories 
and collectively took the opportunity to work 
together in advancing a shared approach to 
Australia’s cultural heritage.  

The group agreed to implement best practice 
cultural heritage principles including sharing 
the comprehensive Australian heritage story; 
inclusion and engagement with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people; and co-operation 
and collaboration.

The Chairs acknowledged the critical 
importance of recording and sharing the stories 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultural 
heritage. The approach was welcomed by 
Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga.

Presentations

The Heritage Council and Department are 
committed to engaging with its diverse 
stakeholders through the delivery of 
presentations, lectures, participation in 
conferences and workshops across a broad 
range of topics.

These outreach initiatives are targeted across 
all levels of government and industry, at varying 
levels and include engagement with:

• WA Local Government Association

• Forum Advocating Cultural and Eco-Tourism

• Australian Concrete Repair Association

• University of Western Australia (Archaeology 
and Heritage Management)

• Uniting Church WA

• Pilbara Regional Council

• Landgate 

• Regional local government authorities: 
Karratha, Bunbury, Geraldton

• Metropolitan local government authorities: 
Swan, Mosman Park

In 2017-18 the Department, on behalf of the 
Heritage Council, delivered 11 presentations, 
and participated in 5 heritage related 
conferences and workshops. 
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The cultural heritage embodied in 
approximately 1,360 places currently entered in 
the State Register of Heritage Places, together 
with the 24,000 historic places included in other 
lists and inventories, are valuable assets that 
makes a significant contribution to the economy, 
the environment, our community’s sense of 
place and quality of life - key considerations 
for meeting the Government goal of “Better 
Places”.

Western Australia’s economy has entered a new 
period that requires strategic responses to the 
changing economic drivers and demographic 
profile of the state. As well as significant 
challenges to address, there will also be 
opportunities for cultural heritage to contribute 
to the development of Western Australia and its 
economy.

It is important that we continue to carry out our 
responsibilities to provide for the conservation 
of places that are significant to the cultural 
heritage of Western Australia, while also being 
responsive to this changing environment.

Legislative and planning reform

As we move into a phase of legislative and 
planning reform, we will work together with the 
Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage 
and other relevant agencies to ensure cultural 
heritage is front-of-mind in policy and regulatory 
review and State Government infrastructure 
programs such as METRONET and Infrastructure 
Western Australia.

A contemporary statutory and strategic planning 
framework that encourages excellence in 
heritage management and practice is required 
to meet the community’s expectations that 
all levels of government make a significant 
contribution to maintaining our heritage places 
– in both public and private ownership.

Adaptive re-use and sustainability

With Western Australia now in its post-
mining construction phase, new economic 
and demographic factors are emerging. In an 
environment characterised by many competing 
demands on constrained public resources, 
responsible disposal of Government heritage 
assets and activation of the private sector 
(where opportunities exist) through a balance of 
incentives – financial, technical and statutory – 
can foster the maintenance of heritage assets as 
a vibrant part of the economy and community. 
Government is the largest owner of State 
Registered places and we will work with others 
to realise the heritage and economic potential 
of these assets.

Maintaining and creatively re-using our heritage 
places whether publicly or privately owned, also 
makes a significant contribution to sustainability. 
Using what we already have benefits the 
environment by leveraging the embodied 
energy of existing buildings, and by reducing 
waste and the energy inputs required for new 
materials and transport. This also serves to 
maintain the demand for the specialist services 
required to manage and care for these places.

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES IMPACTING 
THE HERITAGE COUNCIL
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Complementary sectors of the economy such as 
hospitality, tourism and other arts and cultural 
activities that employ and engage thousands 
of Western Australians also benefit from 
strategies to make the most of our heritage 
estate. This is a key potential area for growth 
and our involvement both in the regions and 
metropolitan area over the coming period.

Technological innovation will also play an 
increasing role in recording and interpreting 
heritage properties, and this will need to 
be leveraged to grow and strengthen the 
community’s understanding and engagement 
with its rich cultural heritage.

The Heritage Council is committed to actively 
addressing all of the above factors in carrying 
out its business over the next few years.
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Image: Water Tank Sign, Old Onslow Interpretation Signage Project. 
Commendation, Interpretation Project, 2018 WA Heritage Awards. 
Photograph supplied by Pilbara Regional Council
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The accompanying financial statements of 
the Heritage Council of Western Australia 
have been prepared in compliance with the 
provisions of the Financial Management Act 
2006 from proper accounts and records to 
present fairly the financial transactions for the 
reporting period ended 30 June 2018 and the 
financial position as at 30 June 2018.

At the date of signing we are not aware of 
any circumstances which would render the 
particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Certification of Financial Statements

For the reporting period ended 30 June 2018

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Anne Arnold
Chair
Heritage Council
of Western Australia
14 September 2018

Rob Druitt
Member
Heritage Council
of Western Australia
14 September 2018

John Deery
Chief Finance Officer
Department of Planning,
Lands and Heritage
14 September 2018
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 30 June 2018

Notes 2018 2017

$ $

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 3.1  26,057  25,697 

Supplies and services 3.2  112,485  134,780 

Grants and subsidies 3.3  1,322,516  1,271,145 

Other expenses 3.4  8,303  8,466 

Total cost of services  1,469,361  1,440,088 

Income

Revenue

Sales 4.2  793,000  2,846,705 

Other revenue 4.3  163,781  5,153 

Total revenue  956,781  2,851,858 

Total income other than income from State Government  956,781  2,851,858 

NET COST OF SERVICES  512,580  (1,411,770)

Income from State Government

Service appropriation 4.1  1,421,000  1,452,000 

Total income from State Government  1,421,000  1,452,000 

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  908,420  2,863,770 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus - -

Total other comprehensive income - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  908,420  2,863,770 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes 2018 2017

$ $

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6.1  463,225  422,180 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.1  5,385,765  4,160,661 

Receivables 5.1  30,847  21,168 

Inventories 4.2  1,005,986  1,369,986 

Total current assets  6,885,823  5,973,995 

TOTAL ASSETS  6,885,823  5,973,995 

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Payables 5.2  102,364  13,376 

Grants payable 5.3  1,377,261  1,462,841 

Total Current Liabilities  1,479,625  1,476,217 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,479,625  1,476,217 

NET ASSETS  5,406,198  4,497,778 

EQUITY

Contributed equity 8.8  -  - 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)  5,406,198  4,497,778 

TOTAL EQUITY  5,406,198  4,497,778 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of financial position

As at 30 June 2018



Contents   I   Message from the Chair   I   Operational Highlights   I  Operational Performance  I  Disclosures

64

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
HERITAGE COUNCIL OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

Notes Contributed
equity

Reserves Accumulated
surplus/ 
(deficit)

Total 
equity

$ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2016  2,000,000  -  1,634,008  3,634,008 

Surplus / (deficit)  -  -  2,863,770  2,863,770 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  -  2,863,770  2,863,770 

Transactions with owners in their capacity  
as owners:

Capital appropriations  -  -  -  - 

Distributions to owners  (2,000,000)  -  -  (2,000,000)

Total  (2,000,000)  -  -  (2,000,000)

Balance at 30 June 2017  -  -  4,497,778  4,497,778 

Balance at 1 July 2017  -  -  4,497,778  4,497,778 

Surplus / (deficit)  -  -  908,420  908,420 

Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  -  908,420  908,420 

Transactions with owners in their capacity  
as owners:

Capital appropriations  -  -  -  - 

Distributions to owners  -  -  -  - 

Total  -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2018  -  -  5,406,198  5,406,198 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 30 June 2018
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Notes 2018 2017

$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  1,421,000  1,452,000 

Net cash provided by State Government  1,421,000  1,452,000 

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits expense  (26,074)  (25,697)

Supplies and services  (112,655)  (169,980)

Grants and subsidies  (1,244,359)  (2,069,343)

GST payments on purchases  (99,907)  (183,608)

Other payments  (9,082)  (8,091)

Receipts

GST receipts on sales  74  7,288 

GST receipts from taxation authority  90,152  253,787 

Other receipts  100,000  5,223 

Proceeds on sale of Warders' Cottages  1,147,000  4,199,705 

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 6.1  (154,851)  2,009,284 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Distribution to Owners  -  (2,000,000)

Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities  -  (2,000,000)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1,266,149  1,461,284 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  4,582,841  3,121,557 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 6.1  5,848,990  4,582,841 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of cash flows

For the year ended 30 June 2018
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Basis of preparation

The Heritage Council of Western Australia (Heritage 
Council) is a WA Government entity and is controlled 
by the State of Western Australia, which is the 
ultimate parent. The entity is a not-for-profit entity (as 
profit is not its principal objective).

A description of the nature of its operations and 
its principal activities have been included in the 
‘Overview’ which does not form part of these 
financial statements.

These annual financial statements were authorised 
for issue by the Chair of the Heritage Council on 14 
September 2018.

Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with:

1) The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA);

2) The Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions or TI);

3) Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) including 
applicable interpretations; and

4) Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs 
applicable for not-for-profit entities have been 
applied.

The FMA and the TI take precedence over AAS. 
Several AAS are modified by the Instructions to vary 
application, disclosure format and wording. Where 
modification is required and has had a material or 
significant financial effect upon the reported results, 
details of that modification and the resulting financial 
effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of 
accounting and using the historical cost convention. 
Certain balances will apply a different measurement 
basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the 
case the different measurement basis is disclosed 
in the associated note. All values are rounded to the 
nearest dollar ($).

Judgements and estimates

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are 
required to be made about financial information being 
presented. The significant judgements and estimates 
made in the preparation of these financial statements 
are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected 
by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. 
Estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on professional judgements derived from historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Contributed Equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by 
Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity 
contributions, other than as a result of a restructure 
of administrative arrangements, to be designated 
by the Government (the owner) as contributions 
by owners (at the time of, or prior, to transfer) 
before such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been 
designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned 
Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly 
to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other 
agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as 
contributions by owners where the transfers are non-
discretionary and non-reciprocal.
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2. Heritage Council outputs

How the Heritage Council operates

This section includes information regarding the nature 
of funding the Heritage Council receives and how this 
funding is utilised to achieve the Heritage Council’s 
objectives.

Heritage Council’s objectives

2.1 Heritage Council’s objectives

Mission

Working with Western Australians to recognise, 
conserve, adapt and celebrate our State’s unique 
cultural heritage.

Service

The Heritage Council provides the following service:

Cultural Heritage Conservation Services:

– Establish and maintain a comprehensive Heritage 
Register;

– Provide conservation advice on development 
referrals and other relevant matters;

– Develop the role of public authorities in 
conserving and managing heritage places;

– Provide financial assistance and other 
conservation incentives; and

– Provide publications, seminars and other 
promotional activities.

Note
2.1
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Notes 2018 
$

2017 
$

3.  Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services
This section provides additional information about how the Heritage 
Council’s funding is applied and the accounting policies that are relevant 
for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. 
The primary expenses incurred by the Heritage Council in achieving its 
objectives and the relevant notes are:

Employee benefits expenses 3.1  26,057  25,697 

Supplies and services 3.2  112,485  134,780 

Grants and subsidies 3.3  1,322,516  1,271,145 

Other expenses 3.4  8,303  8,466 

3.1  Employee benefits expenses   

Superannuation - defined contribution plans(a)  10,471  11,426 

Staff travel  15,586  14,271 

 26,057  25,697 

(a) Defined contribution plans include West State Superannuation Scheme, Gold State Superannuation Scheme, 
Government Employees Superannuation Board Schemes and other eligible funds.

3.2  Supplies and services  

Service Contract  110,157  124,535 

Consumable expenses  1,905  1,908 

General expenses  423 8,337

 112,485 134,780

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting 
period in which they are incurred.  Repairs and maintenance costs are 
recognised as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the 
replacement of a significant component of an asset. In that case, the 
costs are capitalised and depreciated.
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Notes 2018 
$

2017 
$

3.3 Grants and Subsidies  

Heritage Grants Program    1,322,516  1,271,145 

 1,322,516  1,271,145 

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that 
are not subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may 
be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose 
and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to 
owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which 
they are paid or payable. They include transactions such as: grants, 
subsidies, personal benefit payments made in cash to individuals, other 
transfer payments made to public sector agencies, local government, 
non-government schools, and community groups.

3.4 Other Expenditure    

Auditor General fees  7,700  7,600 

Other  603  866 

 8,303  8,466 

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running 
costs incurred in normal operations.  They are recognised as an expense 
in the reporting period in which they are incurred.
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Notes 2018 
$

2017 
$

4.  Our funding sources  

How Heritage Council obtains its funding    

This section provides additional information about how the Heritage 
Council obtains its funding and the relevant accounting policy notes that 
govern the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary 
income received by the Heritage Council and the relevant notes are:

Income from State Government 4.1  1,421,000  1,452,000 

Sales 4.2  793,000  2,846,705 

Other revenue 4.3  163,781  5,153 

4.1  Income from State Government   

Appropriation received during the period:

Service appropriation(a)  1,421,000  1,452,000 

 1,421,000  1,452,000 

(a) Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Heritage Council 
gains control of the appropriated funds.  The Heritage Council gains control of appropriated funds at the time 
those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding 
account) held at Treasury.

 Appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered.  Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component 
and a receivable (asset).
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Notes 2018 
$

2017 
$

4.2 Trading Profit   

Sales(a)  1,157,000  4,199,705 

Cost of Sales:

Opening inventory  (1,369,986)  (2,722,986)

Purchases  -  - 

 (1,369,986)  (2,722,986)

Closing inventory  1,005,986  1,369,986 

Costs of goods sold  (364,000)  (1,353,000)

 793,000  2,846,705 

(a) Sales of Warders’ Cottages

Closing inventory comprises:

Current inventories

Warders' Cottages  1,005,986  1,369,986 

 1,005,986  1,369,986 

Sales

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other 
assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the 
purchaser and proceeds can be measured reliably.

Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

4.3 Other Revenue 

Recoups  -  5,153 

Variation of previous years Heritage Grant Program  163,781  - 

 163,781  5,153 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 
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Notes 2018 
$

2017 
$

5. Other assets and liabilities

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the 
Heritage Council’s controlled operations and includes other assets 
utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal 
operations:

Receivables 5.1  30,847  21,168 

Payables 5.2  (102,364)  (13,376)

Grants payable 5.3  (1,377,261)  (1,462,841)

5.1 Receivables   

Current

Receivables  -  375 

Allowance for impairment of receivables  -  (375)

GST receivable  30,847  21,168 

Balance at end of period  30,847  21,168 

The Heritage Council does not hold any collateral or other credit 
enhancements as security for receivables.

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any 
allowances for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying 
amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for 
settlement within 30 days.

5.1.1 Movement of the allowance for impairment of receivables    

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:

Balance at start of period  375  - 

Doubtful debts expense  -  375 

Amounts written off during the period  375  - 

Balance at end of period  -  375 

The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and 
any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the 
allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful 
debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Heritage 
Council will not be able to collect the debts.
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Notes 2018 
$

2017 
$

5.2 Payables    

Current

Trade payables  43  147 

Accrued expenses  2,321  3,229 

Deposits refundable  100,000  10,000 

Balance at end of period  102,364  13,376 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the agency 
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of 
assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as 
settlement is generally within 30 days.

5.3 Grants Payable  

Current

Heritage Grants Program  1,377,261  1,462,841 

Balance at end of period  1,377,261  1,462,841 
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6. Financing     

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with 
the financing and cashflows of the Heritage Council.  Notes

Cash and cash equivalents 6.1

Reconciliation of cash 6.1.1

Reconciliation of operating activities 6.1.2

2018 
$

2017 
$

6.1 Cash and cash equivalents   

6.1.1 Reconciliation of cash  

Cash and cash equivalents  463,225  422,180 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

- Heritage Grants Program(a)    1,544,098  1,566,457 

- Refund of Heritage Loan Scheme Subsidy Funds(b)  384,480  384,480 

- Heritage Revolving Fund(c)  3,457,187  2,209,724 

Balance as end of period  5,848,990  4,582,841 

(a) Funds restricted for heritage grants awarded to the owners of state listed heritage properties for conservation 
purposes.

(b) The Heritage Loan Subsidy Scheme was terminated and the funds have been restricted with the understanding 
that the proceeds will be added to an existing or be applied to a future program that focuses on regional heritage.

(c) Funds restricted for future use by the Heritage Revolving Fund.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) 
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

6.1.2 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows 
provided by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services  (512,580)  1,411,770 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:   

Current receivables  -  445 

Current inventories  364,000  1,353,000 

Other current assets  -  733 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Current payables  88,988  (35,933)

Grants payable  (85,580)  (798,198)

Net GST receipts/(payments)    (9,679)  77,467 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (154,851)  2,009,284 
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7.1 Financial risk management 

Financial instruments held by the Heritage Council are 
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash 
equivalents, receivables and payables. The Heritage 
Council has limited exposure to financial risks. The 
Heritage Council’s overall risk management program 
focuses on managing the risks identified below.

(a)   Summary of risks and risk management

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the 
Heritage Council’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Heritage Council.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end 
of the reporting period in relation to each class of 
recognised financial asset is the gross carrying 
amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance 
for impairment as shown in the table at Note 7.1(c) 
‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and Note 5.1 
‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Heritage Council’s 
financial assets is minimal because the main 
receivable is the GST receivable. For receivables 
other than Government, the Heritage Council trades 
only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. 
The Heritage Council has policies in place to ensure 
that sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. In 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis with the result that the Heritage 
Council’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the 
end of the reporting period there were no significant 
concentrations of credit risk.

7. Risks and contingencies   
This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement 
techniques of the Heritage Council. Notes

Financial risk management 7.1

Contingent assets and liabilities 7.2

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Heritage Council is 
unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Heritage Council is exposed to liquidity risk 
through its trading in the normal course of business. 
The Heritage Council has appropriate procedures 
to manage cash flows including drawdowns of 
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to 
ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its 
commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices 
such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will 
affect the agency’s income or the value of its holdings 
of financial instruments. The Heritage Council does 
not trade in foreign currency and is not materially 
exposed to other price risks.

The Heritage Council is not exposed to interest rate 
risk because the cash and cash equivalents and the 
restricted cash and cash equivalents are non-interest 
bearing and there are no borrowings.
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2018 
$

2017 
$ 

(b)   Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets 
and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  463,225  422,180 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  5,385,765  4,160,661 

Receivables (a)  -  - 

Total financial assets  5,848,990  4,582,841 

Financial liabilities

Payables  102,364  13,376 

Grants payable  1,377,261  1,462,841 

Total financial liabilities  1,479,625  1,476,217 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(c) Ageing analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired
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2018
Cash and cash equivalents  463,225  463,225  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Restricted cash and   
cash equivalents  5,385,765  5,385,765  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Receivables (a)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 5,848,990  5,848,990  -  -  -  -  -  - 

2017
Cash and cash equivalents  422,180  422,180  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Restricted cash and   
cash equivalents  4,160,661  4,160,661  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Receivables (a)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  375 

 4,582,841  4,582,841  -  -  -  -  -  375 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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(d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Heritage Council’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial 
assets and financial liabilities.  The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows.  The interest rate 
exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates
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2018
Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 0.00  463,225 - -  463,225  463,225 463,225 - - - -

Restricted cash and   
cash equivalents 0.00  5,385,765 - -  5,385,765  5,385,765 5,385,765 - - - -

Receivables (a)  - - -  -  -  - - - - -

 5,848,990 - -  5,848,990  5,848,990  5,848,990 - - - -

Financial Liabilities

Payables  102,364 - -  102,364  102,364 102,364 - - - -

Grants payable (b)  1,377,261 - -  1,377,261  1,377,261 7,280 199,778 1,170203 - -

 1,479,625 - -  1,479,625  1,479,625 109,644 199,778 1,170,203 - -

2017
Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 0.00  422,180 - -  422,180  422,180 422,180 - - - -

Restricted cash and  
cash equivalents 0.00  4,160,661 - -  4,160,661 4,160,661 4,160,661 - - - -

Receivables (a)  - - -  -  -  - - - - -

 4,582,841 - -  4,582,841  4,582,841 4,582,841 - - - -

Financial Liabilities

Payables  13,376 - -  13,376  13,376  13,376 - - - -

Grants payable (b)  1,462,841 - -  1,462,841  1,462,841 74,535 26,400 1,131,906 - -

 1,476,217 - -  1,476,217  1,476,217 87,911 26,400 1,361,906 - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
(b) Grant amounts remaining outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are subject to grant agreements with recipients.  
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7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities

The Heritage Council has no significant contingent 
liabilities or contingent assets as at the reporting 
date.

8. Other disclosures   
This section includes additional material disclosures required 
by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the 
understanding of this financial report.

Notes

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 8.1

Future impact of Australian standards issued not yet operative 8.2

Key management personnel 8.3

Related party transactions 8.4

Related bodies 8.5

Affiliated bodies 8.6

Remuneration of auditors 8.7

Equity 8.8

Supplementary financial information 8.9

Explanatory statement 8.10

8.1 Events occurring after the end of 
the reporting period

No information has become apparent after the end of 
the reporting period which would materially affect the 
financial statements.

8.2 Future impact of Australian 
Accounting Standards not yet 
operative

The Heritage Council cannot early adopt an Australian 
Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption 
from TI 1101.  Where applicable, the Heritage Council 
plans to apply the following Australian Accounting 
Standards from their application date.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2018

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments.

The Heritage Council is not significantly impacted by the application of 
the Standard.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 Jan 2019

This Standard establishes the principles that the Heritage Council shall 
apply to report useful information to users of financial statements 
about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and 
cashflows arising from a contract with a customer. The mandatory 
application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2019 after being 
amended by AASB 2016-7.

The Heritage Council’s income is principally derived from appropriations 
which will be measured under AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit 
Entities and will be unaffected by this change. However, the Heritage 
Council has not yet determined the potential impact of the Standard 
on ‘User charges and fees’ and ‘Sales’ revenues. In broad terms, it is 
anticipated that the terms and conditions attached to these revenues 
will defer recognition until the Heritage Council has discharged its 
performance obligations.

AASB 16 Leases 1 Jan 2019

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and 
requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with 
a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low 
value.

Whilst the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been quantified, the Heritage 
Council has no non-cancellable operating leases commitments which 
likely to have no financial impact.

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for Profit Entities 1 Jan 2019

This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition 
requirements that apply to not-for-profit (NFP) entities, more closely 
reflecting the economic reality of NFP entity transactions that are not 
contracts with customers. Timing of income recognition is dependent 
on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or other 
performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or a 
contribution by owners, related to an asset (such as cash or another 
asset) received by an entity. The Heritage Council anticipates that the 
application will not materially impact appropriation or untied grant 
revenues.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors 1 Jan 2019

This Standard addresses the accounting for a service concession 
arrangement (a type of public private partnership) by a grantor that is a 
public sector entity by prescribing the accounting for the arrangement 
from the grantor’s perspective. Timing and measurement for the 
recognition of a specific asset class occurs on commencement of the 
arrangement and the accounting for associated liabilities is determined 
by whether the grantee is paid by the grantor or users of the public 
service provided. The Heritage Council has not identified any public 
private partnerships within scope of the Standard.

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Int  2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 
in December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by 
AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Heritage Council 
is only insignificantly impacted by the application of the Standard.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 Jan 2018

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and 
consequential amendments to other Standards. These changes have no 
impact as Appendix E has been superseded and the Heritage Council 
was not permitted to early adopt AASB 9.

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising 
from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date of this 
Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 2018. The 
Heritage Council has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 2014)

1 Jan 2018

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from 
the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Heritage Council has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards -  
Effective Date of AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

This Standard amends the mandatory application date of AASB 15 
to 1 January 2018 (instead of 1 January 2017). It also defers the 
consequential amendments that were originally set out in AASB  
2014-5. There is no financial impact arising from this Standard

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - 
Clarifications to AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal 
versus agent considerations, timing of recognising revenue from 
granting a licence, and, provides further transitional provisions to AASB 
15. The Heritage Council has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact when the deferred AASB 15 becomes effective from  
1 January 2019

AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards -  
Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities

1 Jan 2018

This Standard defers, for not-for-profit entities, the mandatory 
application date of AASB 15 to 1 January 2019, and the consequential 
amendments that were originally set out in AASB 2014-5. There is no 
financial impact arising from this Standard.

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards -  
Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities

1 Jan 2019

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative 
implementation guidance for not-for-profit entities into AASB 9 and 
AASB 15. This guidance assists not-for-profit entities in applying those 
Standards to particular transactions and other events. There is no 
financial impact.
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8.3 Key management personnel
The Heritage Council has determined key management personnel to include cabinet ministers and senior officer 
of the Council. The Council does not incur expenditures to compensate Ministers and those disclosures may be 
found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for members of the Heritage 
Council for the reporting period are presented within the following bands:

Compensation Band ($) 2018 2017

1 - 10,000  9  8 

10,001 - 20,000  1  1 

2018 
$

2017 
$

Short term employee benefits  90,473  91,607 

Post employment benefits  8,595  8,703 

Total compensation of senior officers  99,068  100,310 

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the members of the Heritage Council.

8.4 Related party transactions
The Heritage Council is a wholly owned public sector 
entity that is controlled by the State of Western 
Australia.

Related parties of the Heritage Council include:

• all cabinet ministers and their close family 
members, and their controlled or jointly controlled 
entities;

• all senior officers and their close family members, 
and their controlled or jointly controlled 
entities; 

• other departments and statutory authorities, 
including related bodies, that are included in 
the whole of government consolidated financial 
statements (i.e. wholly-owned public sector 
entities);  

• associates and joint ventures of a wholly-owned 
public sector entity; and  

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board 
(GESB).

Significant transactions with government 
related entities

In conducting its activities, the Heritage Council 
is required to transact with the State and entities 
related to the State. These transactions are generally 
based on the standard terms and conditions that 
apply to all agencies. Such transactions include:

• Income from State Government (Note 4.1);

• Superannuation payments to GESB (Note 3.1); and

• Grants (Note 3.3).

Material transactions with other related parties

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the 
Heritage Council, there were no other related party 
transactions that involved key management personnel 
and/or their close family members and/or their 
controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.

8.5 Related bodies
The Heritage Council does not have any related 
bodies.

8.6 Affiliated bodies
The Heritage Council does not have any affiliated 
bodies.
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8.7 Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General 
in respect to the audit for the current financial year is 
as follows: 2018 

$
2017 

$

Auditing the accounts, financial statements, controls and  
key performance indicators 7,780 7,700

8.8 Equity 

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period - 2,000,000

Contributions by owners

Capital appropriation - -

Total contributions by owners - -

Distributions to owners

Net assets transferred to Government - (2,000,000)

Total distributions to owners -  (2,000,000)

Balance at end of period - -

8.9 Supplementary financial 
information   

(a) Write-offs

 During the financial year, $375 (2017: Nil) was 
written off the Heritage Council’s asset register.

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other 
causes

 There was no loss of public money and public and 
other property through theft, default and other 
causes.

(c) Gifts of public property

 There was no gift of public property provided by 
the Heritage Council.

8.10    Explanatory Statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) 
and actual results for 2018, and between the 
actual results for 2018 and 2017 are shown below. 
Narratives are provided for key major variances, which 
are generally greater than:

(a)  5% and $28,000 for the Statements of 
Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and

(b)  5% and $119,000 for the Statement of Financial 
Position.
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8.10.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income variances
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$ $ $ $ $
Expenses
Employee benefits expense  22,000  26,057  25,697  4,057  360 

Supplies and services 1  160,000  112,485  134,780  (47,515)  (22,295)

Grants and subsidies 2 1,222,000  1,322,516 1,271,145  100,516  51,371 

Other expenses  17,000  8,303  8,466  (8,697)  (163)

Total cost of services 1,421,000 1,469,361 1,440,088  48,361  29,273 

Income
Revenue

Sales 3, A 1,900,000  793,000 2,846,705 (1,107,000) (2,053,705)

Other revenue B  -  163,781  5,153  163,781  158,628 

Total Revenue 1,900,000  956,781 2,851,858  (943,219) (1,895,077)

Total income other than income  
from State Government  1,900,000  956,781  2,851,858  (943,219) (1,895,077)

NET COST OF SERVICES  (479,000)  512,580 (1,411,770)  991,580  1,924,350 

Income from State Government
Service appropriation  1,421,000  1,421,000  1,452,000  -  (31,000)

Total income from State Government  1,421,000  1,421,000  1,452,000  -  (31,000)

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  1,900,000  908,420  2,863,770  (991,580) (1,955,350)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus  -  -  -  -  - 

Total other comprehensive income  -  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE PERIOD  1,900,000  908,420  2,863,770  (991,580) (1,955,350)
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Major Estimate and Actual (2018) Variance Narratives

1 Supplies and services underspent by $47,515 (29.7%) due to underspend of the professional services, 
consumables and advertisement expenditure.

2 Grants and subsidies was higher than estimate by $100,516 (8.2%) due to additional allocation of heritage 
grants.

3 Sales was lower than estimate by $1,107,000 (58.2%) due to sale of Warders’ Cottages not completed as 
anticipated.

Major Actual (2018) and Comparative (2017) Variance Narratives

A Sales decreased by $2,053,705 (72.1%) due to sale of the remaining Warders’ Cottages not completed in 
FY2018.

B Other revenue increased by $158,628 (3,078.4%) mainly due to variation of previous years Heritage Grants 
Program.
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8.10.2 Statement of Financial Position Variances
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$ $ $ $ $

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  233,000  463,225  422,180  230,225  41,045 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  8,383,000  5,385,765  4,160,661 (2,997,235)  1,225,104 

Receivables  99,000  30,847  21,168  (68,153)  9,679 

Inventories 4, C  -  1,005,986  1,369,986  1,005,986  (364,000)

Other current assets  1,000  -  -  (1,000)  - 

Total Current Assets  8,716,000  6,885,823  5,973,995 (1,830,177)  911,828 

TOTAL ASSETS  8,716,000  6,885,823  5,973,995 (1,830,177)  911,828 

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables  56,000  102,364  13,376  46,364  88,988 

Grants payable 5  2,261,000  1,377,261  1,462,841  (883,739)  (85,580)

Total Current Liabilities  2,317,000  1,479,625  1,476,217  (837,375)  3,408 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,317,000  1,479,625  1,476,217  (837,375)  3,408 

NET ASSETS  6,399,000  5,406,198  4,497,778  (992,802)  908,420 

EQUITY

Contributed equity  -  -  -  - 

Accumulated surplus / (deficit)  6,399,000  5,406,198  4,497,778  (992,802)  908,420 

TOTAL EQUITY  6,399,000  5,406,198  4,497,778  (992,802)  908,420 

Major Estimate and Actual (2018) Variance Narratives

4 Inventories was higher than estimate by $1,005,986 due to sale of Warders’ Cottages not completed as 
anticipated.     .

5 Grants payable was lower than estimate by $883,739 (39.1%) due to finalisation of the Goldfields Earthquake 
Restoration Fund. 

Major Actual (2018) and Comparative (2017) Variance Narratives  

C Inventories decreased by $364,000 (26.6%) due to the sale of Warders’ Cottages.
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8.10.3 Statement of Cash Flows Variances
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$ $ $ $ $

CASH FLOWS  
FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation  1,421,000 1,421,000 1,452,000  -  (31,000)

Net cash provided by  
State Government  1,421,000  1,421,000  1,452,000  -  (31,000)

CASH FLOWS  
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits expense  (22,000)  (26,074)  (25,697)  (4,074)  (377)

Supplies and services 6, D  (160,000)  (112,655)  (169,980)  47,345  57,325 

Grants and subsidies E (1,222,000) (1,244,359) (2,069,343)  (22,359)  824,984 

GST payments on purchases 7, F  -  (99,907)  (183,608)  (99,907)  83,701 

Other payments  (17,000)  (9,082)  (8,091)  7,918  (991)

Receipts

GST receipts on sales  74  7,288  74  (7,214)

GST receipts from taxation authority G  90,152  253,787  90,152  (163,635)

Other receipts 8, H  100,000  5,223  100,000  94,777 

Proceeds on sale of Warders' Cottages 9, I  3,200,000  1,147,000  4,199,705 (2,053,000) (3,052,705)

Net cash provided by / (used in) 
operating activities  1,779,000  (154,851)  2,009,284 (1,933,851) (2,164,135)

CASH FLOWS  
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Distribution to Owners J  - (2,000,000)  -  2,000,000 

Net cash provided  
by / (used in) investing activities  -  - (2,000,000)  -  2,000,000 

Net increase / (decrease)  
in cash and cash equivalents  3,200,000  1,266,149  1,461,284 (1,933,851)  (195,135)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of period  5,416,000  4,582,841  3,121,557  (833,159)  1,461,284 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
THE END OF THE PERIOD  8,616,000  5,848,990  4,582,841  (2,767,010)  1,266,149 
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Major Estimate and Actual (2018) Variance Narratives

6 See Note 1 above.         

7 GST payments on purchases was not budgeted in the estimate.    

8 Other receipts was higher than estimate due to receipt of refundable deposit for sale of Warders’ Cottages.

9 See Note 3 above.

Major Actual (2018) and Comparative (2017) Variance Narratives  

D Supplies and services decreased by $57,325 (33.7%) mainly due to higher selling costs of the Warders’ 
Cottages paid in FY2017.         

E Grants and subsidies decreased by $824,984 (39.9%) due to final Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund 
cash payouts in FY2017.        

F GST payments on purchases decreased by $83,701 (45.6%) due to lower payments of taxable supplies. 

G See Note F above.         

H Other receipts increased by $94,777 (1,814.6%) mainly due to receipt of refundable deposit for sale of 
Warders’ Cottages.         

I See Note A above.         

J Distribution to owners decreased by $2,000,000 (100.0%) due refund of previously contributed equity to 
Treasury in FY2017, from the proceeds on the sale of the Warders’ Cottages.
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Anne Arnold
Chair
Heritage Council
of Western Australia
14 September 2018

Rob Druitt
Member
Heritage Council
of Western Australia
14 September 2018

John Deery
Chief Finance Officer
Department of Planning,
Lands and Heritage
14 September 2018

We hereby certify that the key performance 
indicators are based on proper records, are 
relevant and appropriate for assisting users 
to assess the Heritage Council of Western 
Australia’s performance, and fairly represent the 
performance of the Heritage Council of Western 
Australia for the financial year ended 30 June 
2018.

Certification of Key Performance Indicators

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS
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HERITAGE COUNCIL
DESIRED OUTCOME AND
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Relationship to Government Goals
The Heritage Council provides strategic cultural heritage services for the conservation of cultural 
heritage places in Western Australia for the benefit of present and future generations.

Heritage Council

Government Goal 
Better Places:
A quality environment with 
liveable and affordable 
communities and vibrant 
regions.

Desired Outcome 
Conservation of cultural 
heritage places in Western 
Australia for the benefit of 
present and future generations.

Services
Cultural heritage conservation 
services.

The Heritage Council works to deliver the Government Goal of:

Better Places: A quality environment with liveable and affordable communities and vibrant regions.

To achieve this goal, the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage provides cultural heritage 
conservation services on behalf of and under the direction of the Heritage Council such as:

• establishing and maintaining a comprehensive heritage register

• providing conservation advice on development referrals and other relevant matters

• developing the role of public authorities in conserving and managing heritage places

• providing financial assistance and other conservation incentives

• providing publications, seminars and other promotional activities.
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Key Effectiveness Indicators 2013/14 
Actual

2014/15 
Actual

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Actual

2017/18 
Target

2017/18 
Actual Variance 

Extent to which heritage places 
identified as having potential State 
significance have been assessed

75.8% 76.5% 76.3% 77.0% 76.0% 77.5% 1.5%

Extent to which development approvals 
issued for registered places are 
consistent with the Heritage Council of 
Western Australia’s advice to decision-
making authorities

100% 100% 99.6% 100% 100% 100% -

Extent to which grant aid leverages 
additional investment in conservation 
projects

5.7:1 2:1 2:1 2.3:1 2:1 2.5:1 0.5:1(1)

Explanation for significant variance

1. Grants of up to $100,000 are available through a competitive process and owners are required 
to match funds to the projects.  The extent to which grant aid leverages additional investment 
in conservation projects has improved this year.  This is due to a number of funded projects 
being of higher value, thus leveraging higher contribution from owners.  In 2017/18, $1.222 
million in funding was awarded for 23 projects.  The projects are expected to deliver a combined 
conservation investment of more than $3.090 million.

Service 1: Cultural heritage conservation services

Key Efficiency Indicator 2013/14 
Actual

2014/15 
Actual

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Actual

2017/18 
Target

2017/18 
Actual Variance 

Incidence of preliminary reviews 
proceeding to full assessment but 
resulting in decisions not to recommend 
interim registration

6.3% 6.4% 6.5% 6.7% 6.5% 7.2% 0.7%

This indicator illustrates a central component of wastage in a key Heritage Council process and 
drives behaviour, leading to accurate preliminary assessments and keeping wastage at a minimum.

Outcome and Key  
Effectiveness Indicators

Heritage Council Desired Outcome: 
Conservation of cultural heritage places in 
Western Australia, for the benefit of present and 
future generations
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Ministerial Directives

The Heritage Council received no Ministerial 
Directives under section 6(2) or section 3(2)(b) 
of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 in 
2017-18. 

Pricing policies 

Administered through the Department, the 
Heritage Council charges for goods and services 
rendered, on a full or partial cost-recovery basis 
for:

• Freedom of Information requests

• inclusion in inContact, our online directory 
of heritage specialists.

The fees and charges are determined 
in accordance with ‘Costing and Pricing 
Government Services: Guidelines for Use by 
Agencies in the Western Australian Public 
Sector’ published by Treasury. Current fees and 
charges are available at stateheritage.wa.gov.au.

Capital projects

The Heritage Council had no capital projects to 
report.

DISCLOSURES AND OTHER  
LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

Unauthorised use of credit cards

Heritage Councillors and Committee members 
are not issued with government corporate credit 
cards.

Disability Access Inclusion Plan

In accordance with the Disability Services Act 
1993, the Heritage Council, the Department and 
the Western Australian Planning Commission 
developed a Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan (DAIP) for 2018-2023. The DAIP outlines the 
ways in which we will ensure that people with 
disability and their families and carers are able 
to fully access services and facilities. 

The draft DAIP was released for comment 
during the year. Community and stakeholder 
feedback was sought on all aspects of the draft 
DAIP, particularly the identified barriers and 
strategies.

External Audit 

Apart from the Office of the Auditor General’s 
annual financial audit, the Heritage Council was 
not included in any other specific audits in 2017-
18.

http://stateheritage.wa.gov.au
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Contracts with Senior Officers

Requirement under Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 
903: At the date of reporting, no senior officers, 
or firms of which senior officers are members, or 
entities in which senior officers have substantial 
interests, had any interests in existing or 
proposed contracts with the Heritage Council.

Advertising and marketing 
expenditure

In accordance with section 175ZE of the 
Electoral Act 1907, the Heritage Council 
incurred no advertising expenditure for   
2017-18.

Type of expenditure Total $ Organisation Amount $
Advertising Agencies Nil – Nil

Market Research Organisations Nil – Nil

Polling Organisations Nil – Nil

Direct Mail Organisations Nil – Nil

Media Advertising Organisations Nil – Nil
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GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

Enabling legislation

The Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 
is the enabling legislation for the Heritage 
Council.

The Heritage Council was established under 
section 5 of the Heritage of Western Australia 
Act 1990.

Heritage Council and Committee 
remuneration

The remuneration and allowances paid 
to Council and Committee Members are 
determined by the Governor based on a 
recommendation by the Minster for Public 
Sector Management.
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Position Name Type of remuneration Period of 
membership

Gross/actual 
remuneration**

Chair Anne Arnold^ Annual salary 12 months $22,228.70

Member Philip Griffiths^ Annual salary & sitting fees 12 months $11,672.30

Member John Stephens^ Annual salary & sitting fees 12 months $9,862.30

Member Bradley Pettit^ Annual salary & sitting fees 12 months $10,372.30

Member Sally Malone^ Annual salary & sitting fees 12 months $9,738.94

Member Nerida Moredoundt^ Annual salary & sitting fees 12 months $9,012.30

Member Lloyd Clark^ Annual salary & sitting fees 12 months $10,372.30

Member Alice Steedman^ Annual salary & sitting fees 1/7/17-31/12/17 $5,436.15

Member Jennifer Marschner^ Annual salary & sitting fees 1/1/18–30/6/18 $3,978.92

Member Rob Druitt^ Annual salary & sitting fees 12 months $9,862.30

Member Fiona Bush Sitting fees 12 months $1,530.00

Member Peter Woodward Sitting fees 12 months $1,190.00

Member Lucy Hair Sitting fees 12 months $1,360.00

Member Ian Maitland Sitting fees 12 months $1,190.00

Member Chris Antill Sitting fees 12 months $1,700.00

Member David Heaver* Annual salary & sitting fees N/A $203.35

Member Susan Graham-Taylor* Sitting fees N/A $170.00

Member Renee Gardiner* Sitting fees N/A $170.00

Member Gerald Major* Sitting fees N/A $170.00

Member Antony Ednie-Brown* Sitting fees N/A $170.00

Total $110,389.86

^ Also a member of one of the Heritage Council’s committees. Anne Arnold is the Chair of the Development Committee; 
and Philip Griffiths is the Chair of the Register Committee.

*  Not members of the Heritage Council or its committees during 2017-18 but received final payment from the 2016-17 
financial year in July 2017.

** Heritage Council members are paid a set annual fee ($22,228 for the Chair, inclusive of $5,000 for work relating to 
committees; and $8,672 for members). Members of the committees are paid sitting fees of $170 per part day or $250 per 
day (over 4 hours). Heritage Council members chairing a committee meeting are paid $250 per part day or $370 per day 
(over 4 hours.
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OTHER GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

It is important for the public and Government 
to have confidence that the Heritage Council 
is spending public funds and delivering 
and administering devolved programs in an 
honest, reasonable and prudent manner.  The 
Heritage Council abides by the Public Sector 
Accountability, Integrity and Ethics Framework. 
The Heritage Council ensures compliance with 
the:

• WA Public Sector Code of Ethics and Code 
of Conduct

• Public Sector Standards in Human Resources 
Management

• Part IX of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984.

Council members are reminded of, and required 
to comply with, the Public Sector Standards 
in Human Resource Management. Actions to 
monitor and ensure compliance with public 
sector standards include:

• Awareness of the Code of Ethics

• Encouraged to report non-compliance to 
the Public Information Disclosure Officer.

The Heritage Council is guided by the 
Council Charter which clarifies the roles and 
responsibilities of the Heritage Council. The 
Council Charter provides the framework 
for high standards of governance and 
clear understandings about the roles and 
responsibilities of the board and the relationship 
with the Department. During the year, the 
Heritage Council reviewed the Council Charter. 
The amended Council Charter is available at 
stateheritage.wa.gov.au. 

Conflicts of Interest

The Declaration of Interest Policy was adopted 
by the Heritage Council in June 2017 (replacing 
the previous version of July 2016). This policy 
supports the Heritage Council Code of 
Conduct, and outlines the requirements for 
identifying, declaring and managing an actual, 
perceived or potential conflict of interest that 
may arise. Under the Heritage Council’s Conflict 
of Interest Policy, members must declare a 
conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest 
to the Chair and be excused from attendance, 
where determined, on those particular items.

Risk management and business 
continuity 

The Heritage Council has driven ongoing 
improvements to its risk management practice, 
with solid foundations in the Heritage Council 
Risk Management Policy, and Business 
Continuity Policy. The Heritage Council 
continues to be supported with regular reviews 
of strategic risks. An external risk management 
consultant is engaged for this, to ensure the 
appropriate level of subject matter expertise 
and an independent oversight of the reviews. 

Operational risks are reviewed rotationally on 
an annual basis by the Department’s Heritage 
Services division. Evidence of operational risk 
management is provided by the Department 
bi-annually to the Heritage Council. Risk 
management has firmly established itself in the 
forefront of all planning, and is included in all 
project plans and event plans. 

http://www.stateheritage.wa.gov.au/about-us/who-we-are/heritage-council


Contents   I   Message from the Chair   I   Operational Highlights   I  Operational Performance  I  Disclosures

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
HERITAGE COUNCIL OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

97

The Heritage Council is assisted by the 
Department to undertake certain governance 
functions including those related to public 
interest disclosure, record keeping, freedom of 
information and complaints management.

Public interest disclosure

In accordance with the Public Interest Disclosure 
Act 2003, a public interest disclosure (PID) is 
made when a person discloses to a proper 
authority, such as a PID officer, information 
that tends to show past, present or proposed 
future improper conduct by a public body in the 
exercise of public functions.

The Heritage Council is assisted by the 
Department to provide mechanisms for the 
lodgement of PIDs. During the year, no public 
interest disclosures were received.

Recordkeeping

The Department, on behalf of the Heritage 
Council, continues to demonstrate its 
commitment to good recordkeeping under 
the State Records Act 2000. During the year, 
the Department moved to Objective as its 
Electronic Document and Records Management 
System, which provides for the management 
of both digital and paper records within an 
integrated environment.

Freedom of Information

The Department maintains and administers all 
Freedom of Information applications on behalf 
of the Heritage Council. In 2017-18, one FOI 
application was received and completed by the 
Department.

Complaints Handling

The Heritage Council aims to provide the 
best service it can for Western Australians and 
values stakeholder and customer feedback. 
As part of a whole-of-government complaints 
management strategy, through the Department, 
the Council offers a complaints management 
system that conforms to the Australian 
Standard AS ISO 10002-2006 supported by a 
Complaints Handling Policy.  This is published 
on stateheritage.wa.gov.au.

Verbal complaints can be taken over the 
telephone or in person. Written complaints 
by letter or email will be forwarded to the 
Department for an acknowledgement letter 
or phone call to indicate receipt of a written 
complaint within five working days and include 
information on the process and contact 
information. A full written response can be 
expected within five to 30 working days, 
depending on the complexity of the complaint. 

If it is not possible to resolve a complaint 
within this timeframe, complainants will be 
notified of any delay either in writing or over 
the telephone. Objections to assessments or 
registrations of places on the State Register of 
Heritage Places are dealt with separately by the 
Assistant Director General, Heritage Services. 
Nil complaints were received this year.

https://www.stateheritage.wa.gov.au/about-us/acts-policies/complaints
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APPENDICES

Place No Place Name Applicant Funds 
Committed

P02090 West Australian Rowing Club West Australian Rowing Club Inc  $88,369.27 

P03550 Co-operative Bulk Handling 
Building (fmr)

The Trustee for Warrington 22 
Delhi Street Trust  $100,000.00 

P03220 Paterson & Co Fruit Packing 
Shed Complex PPSB Syndicate  $40,262.75 

P01762 Fairbridge Farm School (fmr) - 
Chapel Fairbridge Western Australia inc  $100,000.00 

P02155 Rechabite Hall Happy Heart Pty Ltd $100,000.00 

P18566 St. Boniface Anglican Cathedral 
and Bishopscourt Anglican Parish of Bunbury  $94,910.31 

P00854 Wilhelmsen House, West End 
Precinct

Mediterranean Shipping 
Company  $61,725.00 

P25225 Ajax Building, West End Precinct G Hill  $32,738.48 

P14922 Stirling Terrace Precinct C Daniele  $1,780.00 

P02401 Clontarf Clontarf Aboriginal College  $17,400.00 

P02498 Houghton Homestead Accolade Wines Australia Limited  $85,500.00 

P00803 Knocknagow B and D Wilson  $37,544.50 

P18772 Warehouse, 22-26 Pakenham 
Street The Trustee for PS Arts Trust  $54,697.50 

P08198 Donnelly River Mill and Town Site 
Precinct The Wheatley Unit Trust  $63,362.88 

P02329 Bell Cottage (ruin) The Royal View Unit Trust  $18,093.00 

P02462 Wesley Chapel and Manse UCA - Guildford Church Council  $22,210.00 

P01329 St. Andrew's Church and Hall, 
Katanning Anglican Parish of Katanning  $1,582.50

P01188 Church of St Nicholas, Australind Anglican Parish of Australind  $10,807.50 

P25225 Oceanic Hotel, West End The Trustee for the Bowra Trust  $100,000.00 

P04656 Peedamulla Homestead, 
Ashburton Gumala Aboriginal Corporation  $100,000.00 

Appendix 1: Heritage Grants Program Allocation 2017-18
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Place No Place Name Applicant Funds 
Committed

P00017 Camfield House, Albany R Stephen  $4,323.00 

P02429 Albany Bell Castle, Maylands Celsius Property Group  $9,563.59 

P02284 St. Werburghs Chapel and 
Cemetery Anglican Parish of Mount Barker $29,367.22 

P02332 Holy Trinity Anglican Church The Trustees of the Diocese of 
North West Australia $52,500.00*

P02422 Maylands Post Office M Havilah $23,588.39*

P03239 Cossack Town Site Precinct City of Karratha $69,000.00*

Total $1,319,325.89

*  These projects were funded from returned funds from previous years’ grant budgets.
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Image: St Francis Xavier Cathedral, Gerladton. 
Photograph supplied by Fr Robert Cross
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